
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Planning and Development Control 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 3 December 2019 - 7.00 pm 
Main Hall (1st Floor) - 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Rachel Leighton (Chair) 
Councillor Matt Uberoi (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Colin Aherne 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
Councillor Natalia Perez 
Councillor Asif Siddique 
 

Councillor Alex Karmel 
Councillor Matt Thorley 
 

 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Charles Francis 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 
Tel 07776 672945 

 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Public Notice 
Members of the press and public are welcome to attend this and all other Council 
meetings. Should exempt information need to be discussed the committee will pass 
a resolution requiring members of the press and public to leave. 
 

For details on how to register to speak at the meeting, please see overleaf. 
Deadline to register to speak is 4pm on Thursday 28 November 2019 
 

For queries concerning a specific application, please contact the relevant case 
officer. 
 

The open part of this agenda is available for public inspection at the Town Hall and 
may be viewed on the Council’s website www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 

 Date Issued: 25/11/19 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


 

PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
(PROTOCOL) 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend the Planning and Development Control 
Committee meeting. 
 
Who can speak? 
Only the applicant or their agent and people who have commented on the application as 
part of the planning department consultation process in support or against will be permitted 
to speak at the meeting.  They must have been registered to speak before addressing the 
committee.  Ward Councillors may sometimes wish to speak at meetings even though they 
are not part of the committee.  They can represent the views of their constituents.  The 
Chair will not normally allow comments to be made by other people attending the meeting 
or for substitutes to be made at the meeting. 
 
Do I need to register to speak? 
All speakers except Ward Councillor must register at least two working days before the 
meeting.  For example, if the committee is on Tuesday, requests to speak must be made by 
4pm on the preceding Thursday.  Requests received after this time will not be allowed.  
Registration will be by email only.  Requests are to be sent to 
speakingatplanning@lbhf.gov.uk with your name, address and telephone number and the 
application you wish to speak to as well as the capacity in which you are attending.  
 
How long is provided for speakers? 
Those speaking in support or against an application will be allowed three minutes each.  
Where more than one person wishes to speak for or against an application, a total of five 
minutes will be allocated to those speaking for and those speaking against.  The speakers 
will need to decide whether to appoint a spokesperson or split the time between them.  The 
Chair will say when the speaking time is almost finished to allow time to round up.  The 
speakers cannot question councillors, officers or other speakers and must limit their 
comments to planning related issues. 
 
At the Meeting - please arrive 15 minutes before the meeting starts and make yourself 
known to the Committee Co-ordinator who will explain the procedure. 
 
What materials can be presented to committee? 
To enable speakers to best use the time allocated to them in presenting the key issues they 
want the committee to consider, no new materials or letters or computer presentations will 
be permitted to be presented to the committee.   
 
What happens to my petition or deputation? 
Written petitions made on a planning application are incorporated into the officer report to 
the Committee.  Petitioners, as members of the public, are welcome to attend meetings but 
are not permitted to speak unless registered as a supporter or objector to an application.  
Deputation requests are not accepted on applications for planning permission. 
 

mailto:speakingatplanning@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Planning and Development Control 
Committee 

Agenda 
 

3 December 2019 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  
 

5 - 16 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chair to sign, the minutes of 
the meetings of the Committee held on 3 September 2019 and 15 
October 2019. 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   

 

4.   FLAT 4 29 - 47 FITZ-GEORGE AVENUE, LONDON W14 0SZ, 
AVONMORE AND BROOK GREEN, 2019/02510/FUL  
 

17 - 32 

5.   FLAT 5 9 - 27 FITZ-GEORGE AVENUE LONDON W14 0SY, 
AVONMORE AND BROOK GREEN, 2019/02511/FUL  
 

33 - 48 



6.   FLAT 6 49 - 67 FITZ-GEORGE AVENUE LONDON W14 0SZ, 
AVONMORE AND BROOK GREEN, 2019/02512/FUL  
 

49 - 64 

7.   168A DU CANE ROAD LONDON W12 0TX, COLLEGE PARK AND 
OLD OAK, 2019/02035/FUL  
 

65 - 82 

8.   BEACONSFIELD WALK JUNCTION PARSONS GREEN LANE 
LONDON SW6 4DA, TOWN, 2019/00431/FR3  
 

83 - 90 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Planning and 
Development Control 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 3 September 2019 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Rachel Leighton (Chair), Matt Uberoi (Vice-Chair), 
Colin Aherne, Wesley Harcourt, Natalia Perez, Asif Siddique, Alex Karmel and 
Matt Thorley 
 
Other Councillors: Larry Culhane 
 
Officers:  
 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Development Control Committee 
held on 2nd July 2019 be confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the 
proceedings. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillor Alex Karmel declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of item 5, 32 A 
Vereker Road as he had some contact with the applicant and some of the 
objectors. He considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a conflict of 
interests and, in the circumstances, it would be reasonable to participate in the 
discussion and vote thereon. 
 

4. DECISION TO VARY THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA 
 
In view of members of the public present for particular applications the Chair 
proposed that the agenda be re-ordered, with which the Committee agreed, and 
the minutes reflect the order of the meeting. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

5. 32A VEREKER ROAD, LONDON W14, NORTH END, 2019/01730/FUL  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 
The Committee heard several representations from residents in objection to the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: the current application 
varied only slightly from the previous application but included a seven-fold increase 
in the amount of glass to be installed, that the development would result in the loss 
of amenity and light.  The amount of excavated soil was considerable and had 
already caused significant disruption.  That the property had previously been the 
residence of a well-known portraiture artist, Henry Jamyn Brooks and the historic 
links of the property made it unique.   

 

The Committee heard representations from the applicant in support of the 
application.  A number of points were raised and included: That the property had 
not been used as an artist’s studio since the 1940s and had been used as a 
residence.  Previous objections to the application had been addressed and the 
new proposals were his view in line with the planning inspectors’ 
recommendations.  

 

The Committee heard a representation in objection to the application from 
Councillor Larry Culhane, Ward Councillor for North End. 
  
 
Cllr Karmel,  seconded by Cllr Thorley, proposed that the Committee should 
decline to determine the application under Section 73 of the TCPA as the 
application was similar to previously determined applications. Officers refused this 
request stating that it was ultra vires. Cllr Karmel then proposed,  seconded by  Cllr 
Thorley,  that the Committee should defer the application to seek further legal 
advice. 

 
For: 
4 
Against: 
4 
 
An equal number of votes required Councillor Leighton as Chair to therefore cast a 
deciding vote against, and the motion was duly rejected.   
 
Councillor Alex Karmel moved a second motion, seconded by Councillor Matt 
Thorley, to overturn the officer recommendations on the grounds that the 
application was not materially different with “very little changes…” therefore the 
same grounds to refuse the previous application were valid to this current 
application. The Committee voted on the motion as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

For: 
2 
 
Against: 
6 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
  

The motion was duly rejected. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/01730/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
  

Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For: 
0 
 
Against: 
7 
 
Not Voting: 
1 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
0 
 
Against: 
7 
 
Not Voting: 
1 
 
 
 
The Chair provided the following reasons to support the Committees decision to 
refuse the officer recommendations: that the proposed application was not in 
keeping with the character of the Barons Court Conservation Area and would harm 
the appearance of the area, that the application was also considered to be 
unneighbourly and result in an unacceptable impact on neighbouring amenity 
including light pollution, overlooking and loss of privacy; and finally that it would 
represent an over-development providing a substandard level of accommodation. 
 
 
 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

5. FORMER DAIRY CREST SITE, LAND BENEATH AND BOUNDED BY 
WESTWAY AND WEST LONDON RAILWAY LINE AND ADJOINING 58 WOOD 
LANE LONDON W12 7RZ, COLLEGE PARK AND OLD OAK, 2018/00267/OUT  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 
The Committee heard a representation from the applicant in support of the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: that the applicant had 
undertaken local consultation and engagement with a view to seeking support for a 
mixed use develop which could potentially offer significant local benefits.  The 
intention was to submit reserve matters applications for the future development.  
Two objections had been received. Councillor Harcourt pointed out that although 
one of these was from the Wood Lane Tenants Association, they represented a 
number of residents.  One of the points made related to the height of one of the 
buildings which would consist of 32 storeys. The applicant explained that this 
would be reviewed at the detailed stage.   
 
The Committee voted on application 2018/00267/OUT and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
 
Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
 

6. JUNCTION OF COMMONWEALTH AVENUE AND BLOEMFONTEIN ROAD 
LONDON W12, WORMHOLT AND WHITE CITY, 2019/00889/FR3  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The Committee agreed that they did not need to receive a presentation on this 
application and noted the contents of the officer’s report together with the 
Addendum. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/00889/FR3 and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
 
 
Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 

 
Meeting started: 19:00 
Meeting ended: 21:32 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 87535758 / 07776672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall @lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

   London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
Planning and Development Control Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 15 October 2019 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 

  
Committee members: Councillors Rachel Leighton, Colin Aherne,  
Wesley Harcourt, Natalia Perez, Asif Siddique, Alex Karmel and Matt Thorley 
 
 

1. MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 3 September 2019 were deferred 
until the next meeting. Several amendments to the minutes were proposed. The Chair 
proposed that in relation to Item 5 – 32a Vereker Road that the last paragraph be 
amended to:  
 
The Chair provided the following reasons to support the Committees decision to refuse 
the officer recommendations: that the proposed application was not in keeping with the 
character of the Barons Court Conservation Area and would harm the appearance of the 
area, that the application was also considered to be unneighbourly and result in an 
unacceptable impact on neighbouring amenity including light pollution, overlooking and 
loss of privacy; and finally that it would represent an over-development providing a 
substandard level of accommodation 
 
This was seconded by Councillor Colin Aherne. 
 
Councillor Alex Karmel proposed that in relation to Item 5 – 32a Vereker Road that the 
minute related to his motion be amended to:  
 
Cllr Karmel,  seconded by Cllr Thorley, proposed that the Committee should decline to 
determine the application under Section 73 of the TCPA as the application was similar 
to previously determined applications. Officers refused this request stating that it was 
ultra vires. Cllr Karmel then proposed,  seconded by  Cllr Thorley,  that the Committee 
should defer the application to seek further legal advice. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor Matt Thorley. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were provided by Councillor Matt Uberoi. 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
4.  

Councillor Wesley Harcourt declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of Mitre Yard, 
104-108 Scrubs Lane as he is the LBHF delegate sitting on the OPDC Planning 

Page 10



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Committee. He remained in the meeting but did not participate or vote on the item. 
 
Councillor Natalia Perez declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of Mitre Yard, 104-
108 Scrubs Lane as she is the LBHF delegate sitting on the OPDC Planning Committee. 
She remained in the meeting but did not participate or vote on the item. 
 
Councillor Alex Karmel declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of the Castle Centre 
as he was a member of a club in the vicinity. He remained in the meeting and voted on 
the item. 
 
 
CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENT REGARDING THE WEST LONDON MAGISTRATES 
COURT – 2019/00195/FUL 
 
At the start of the meeting and due to the amount of public interest in the application, the 
Chair confirmed that in view of late representations received since the publication of the 
agenda from residents in objection to the application, and the local interest the 
application had generated, officers had withdrawn the item from the agenda.  
   
 

5. DECISION TO RE-ORDER THE AGENDA  
 
In view of members of the public present for particular applications the Chair proposed 
that the agenda be re-ordered, with which the Committee agreed, and the minutes 
reflect the order of the meeting. 
 
 

The Castle Centre – 2019/00732/FUL 
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 
Councillor Alex Karmel declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of the Castle 
Centre as he was a member of a club in the vicinity. He remained in the meeting 
and voted on the item. 
 
The Committee heard representations from representatives of the Applicant. A 
number of points were raised which included: The building had been at risk until 
the Applicant had repaired it and secured its future. Should the application be 
approved, the applicant would respect the buildings’ heritage. A number of local 
groups supported the application. The application would preserve and enhance the 
character and appearance of the Hurlingham Conservation Area. The Applicant 
had worked with local residents on the proposed design, which had been designed 
to meet local social needs. 
 
During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues 
including: the ramifications of demolishing the listed summer house, the treatment 
of the boundary wall and the transport implications, including the impact of the 
estimated visitors’ numbers on local residents. 
 

Page 11



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Further points of discussion included: The timing and reliability of the traffic survey, 
the proximity of the site to local transport infrastructure and the local need for care 
homes. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/00732/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
 
Officer Recommendation 1: 
 
For:  
6 
Against:  
1 
Not Voting: 
0  
 
 
Officer Recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
7 
Against: 
0 
Not Voting: 
0 
 

 RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completition of a 
satisfactory legal agreement. 
 

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads 
of terms of the legal agreement any such changes shall be within their 
discretion. 

 
 
The Castle Centre – 2019/00733/LBC 
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report. 
 
Councillor Alex Karmel declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of the Castle 
Centre as he was a member of a club in the vicinity. He remained in the meeting 
and voted on the item. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/00733/LBC and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval and changes set out in the addendum. This 
was put to the vote and the result was as follows: 

Page 12



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

  
Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For:  
5 
Against:  
2 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For:  
7 
Against:  
0 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Planning Application 2019/00733/LBC be approved, subject to: 
 

3) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completition of a 
satisfactory legal agreement. 
 

4) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads 
of terms of the legal agreement any such changes shall be within their 
discretion. 
 

 
 
MS White City Site – 2019/01300/RES 
 
The Committee heard a representation from the Applicants’ architect. A number of 
points were raised which included: The proposed development would be a high-
quality design which would make a positive contribution towards meeting local and 
strategic housing needs. The design, incorporating glazed terracotta tile cladding 
would create a vibrant and creative environment where people would want to live, 
work and spend their leisure time. 
 
During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues 
including the height of the E2 and E3 phases, car parking and EV charging 
provision. 
 

Page 13



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

With regards to electric vehicle charging points, Councillor Alex Karmel proposed 
that a new condition be added, stipulating that half of all the EV charging points 
were rapid chargers. This proposal was seconded by Councillor Matt Thorley. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/01300/RES and whether to agree the 
new condition and the officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the 
vote and the result was as follows: 
 
The proposed new Condition: 
 
For: 
7 
Against: 
0 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For:  
7 
Against:  
0 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For:  
7 
Against:  
0 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Planning Application 2019/01300/RES be approved, subject to: 
 

1. That the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to determine the 
application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed below. 

 
2. To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 

the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which 
may include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions, any such 
changes shall be within their discretion. 

 
 
 

Page 14



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Kensington Centre – 2017/04752/FUL 
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2017/04752/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval and changes set out in the addendum. This 
was put to the vote and the result was as follows: 
  
Officer recommendation: 
 
For:  
5 
Against:  
2 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Planning Application 2017/04753/FUL be approved, subject to: 
 

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completition of a 
satisfactory legal agreement. 
 

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, in consultation with the 
Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor modifications to the proposed conditions or 
heads of terms or any subsequent minor changes arising out of detailed 
negotiations with the applicant which may necessitate the modification, 
which may include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions and 
heads of terms as drafted to ensure consistency between the two sets of 
provisions. 
 

 
Mitre Yard – 2019/02610/OPDOBS 
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report. 
 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of Mitre 
Yard, 104-108 Scrubs Lane as he is the LBHF delegate sitting on the OPDC 
Planning Committee. He remained in the meeting but did not participate or vote on 
the item. 
 
Councillor Natalia Perez declared a non pecuniary interest in respect of Mitre Yard, 
104-108 Scrubs Lane as she is the LBHF delegate sitting on the OPDC Planning 
Committee. She remained in the meeting but did not participate or vote on the 
item. 
 

Page 15



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The Committee voted on application 2019/02610/OPDBS and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations set out in the report and changes set out in the 
addendum. This was put to the vote and the result was as follows: 
 
Officer recommendation: 
 
For:  
5 
Against:  
0 
Not Voting: 
2 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The Committee endorse the officers’ comments in relation to Planning Application 
2019/02610/OPDBS. 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting started:   7:00 pm 
   8:30 pm 

 
Chair   

 
 

Contact officer: Charles Francis 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 07776 672945 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 16



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 

Site Address: 
Flat 4  29 - 47 Fitz-George Avenue  London  W14 0SZ   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/02510/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
23.08.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
03.12.2019 

Case Officer: 
Grace Harrison 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Fitz-George And Fitzjames 
Conservation Area - Number 19 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 

 
Applicant: 
 
C/o Agent     
 
Description: 
Creation of 1no. self-contained one bedroom flat at lower ground floor level through 
change of use of the existing basement storage area and excavation and enlargement 
of the existing basement and lightwell; creation of a new lightwell and associated 
installation of new windows and doors; and erection of a bike store. 
Drg Nos:  2088-sk07A Rev. A.2088-14pB; 2088-14pA-PLAN; 2088-14p-GF-PLAN; 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development shall be carried out only in complete accordance with the 

submitted drawings which have been approved and which are stated on this 
decision notice.  

          
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning permission hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC4, DC8, DC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
 3) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until provision has 

been made for the storage of three bicycles, in the form of the dedicated cycle 
storage area at basement floor level, as indicated on the approved drawing no. 
2088-sk07A. Thereafter the provision for cycle storage shall be so maintained for 
the life of the development. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for cycle storage and thereby encourage 

sustainable and active modes of transport, in accordance with Policy T3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 

Page 18



 

 4) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained 
within the Flood Risk Assessment (Herrington Consulting, July 2019 and 
Groundwater Impact Assessment (GB Card and Partners, July 2019) submitted 
with this application. All flood prevention and mitigation measures should be 
installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
development. 

  
 To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface 

water from the site, and to reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants, in accordance with Policy CC2 and CC3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
 5) Prior to the occupation of the basement accommodation hereby approved, a non-

return valve and pump device should be installed to prevent sewage 'back-surging' 
into the basement in times of heavy rain and to allow the property's sewage to 
continue to flow properly into the sewer network. 

  
 To protect the new basement accommodation from flooding, as recommended by 

Thames Water and in accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policy CC2, London Plan 
(2015) Policy 5.12 and Part 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

  
 6) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
Details shall include control measures for dust, noise, vibration, lighting, delivery 
locations, restriction of hours of work and all associated activities audible beyond 
the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800 -1300 hrs on 
Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other interested parties of 
proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible phone 
contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works.  
Thereafter the approved details shall be implemented throughout the project 
period.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 7) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced  sound insulation value DnT,w 
and L'nT,w of at least 5dB above the Building Regulations value, for the 
floor/ceiling /wall structures separating different types of rooms/ uses in adjoining 
dwellings. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
 8) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the installation 

of the Air Source Heat Pumps or Electric Boilers to be provided for space heating 
and hot water shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use 
of the development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

Page 19



 

  
 In the interests of air quality, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 

(2018). 
 
 9) The new residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the Council 

has been notified in writing (and has acknowledged such notification) of the full 
postal address of the residential unit. Such notification shall be to the Council's 
Head of Development Management and shall quote the planning application 
number specified in this decision letter. 

  
 In order that the Council can update its records to ensure that parking permits are 

not issued to the occupiers of the residential unit hereby approved, and thus 
ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers 
of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-street car 
parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
10) No occupiers of the new residential unit hereby permitted, with the exception of 

disabled persons who are Blue Badge holders, shall apply to the Council for a 
parking permit or retain such a permit, and if such a permit is issued it shall be 
surrendered to the Council within seven days of written receipt. 

  
 In order to ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of 

the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-
street car parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
11) The new residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as 

a scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority to ensure that all occupiers, other than those with disabilities who are 
Blue Badge holders, have no entitlement to parking permits from the Council and 
to ensure that occupiers are informed, prior to occupation, of such restriction. The 
residential unit shall not be occupied otherwise than in accordance with the 
approved scheme unless prior written agreement is issued by the Council. 

                                                                   
 In order that the prospective occupiers of the residential unit are made aware of 

the fact that they will not be entitled to an on-street car parking permit, in the 
interests of the proper management of parking, and to ensure that the 
development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-street car parking 
stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
12) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall comprise: a 
desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at the site and 
surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated with those 
uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating potential pollutant 
linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those in the 
surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment 
of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages 
to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 20



 

Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
13) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and 
target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground 
gas, surface and groundwater . All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
14) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 
confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
15) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works 
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved 
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 21



 

Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
16) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full and a verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 
disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the 
Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required remediation shall 
be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and verification of 
these works included in the verification report. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
17) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past 
the completion of development works to verify the success of the remediation 
undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no 
residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018) 

Page 22



 

 
18) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Logistics Plan shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the council. This 
must be in accordance with Transport for London (TfL) requirements and should 
seek to minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict 
construction trips to off-peak hours only. Thereafter the approved details shall be 
implemented throughout the project period. 

  
 To ensure that construction works do not adversely impact on the operation of the 

public highway, in accordance with Policies T1 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
19) All new windows and doors shall be formed of timber and painted white, and 

permanently retained in this form thereafter. 
  
 To ensure a satisfactory appearance and to preserve the character and 

appearance of the building and the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area, 
in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
20) All new balustrades and screening shall be formed of glass, and permanently 

retained as such thereafter. 
  
 To ensure a satisfactory appearance and to preserve the character and 

appearance of the building and the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area, 
in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
21) All refuse and recycling generated by the occupants of the new dwelling shall be 

stored in the existing communal refuse storage bins for the building. At no time 
shall refuse or recycling bags be placed on the street. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for the storage of refuse and recycling on site, 

and thereby prevent it being stored on the highway, in accordance with Policy CC7 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) Principle: The proposed development would make a small positive contribution 

towards the quantity of the borough's housing stock, helping to achieve the 
London Plan (2016) and Local Plan (2018) target of 1,031 residential units per 
year through new build, conversion of change of use. The proposed enlargement 
of the existing basement is also considered to be acceptable in principle when 
assessed against Policy DC11 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 Quality of Accommodation: The proposed development provides an acceptable 

standard of living accommodation, in accordance with Paragraph 123 of the NPPF 
(2019), Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies HO4 and HO11 of the 
Local Plan (2018) which all require residential development to be of the highest 
quality internally. 

  
 Flood risk: The risk of flooding to the new unit has been satisfactorily addressed by 

way of the proposed flood risk mitigation measures, in accordance with Policies 
CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018).  

  

Page 23



 

 Highways: The proposed development has made satisfactory provision for cycle 
storage and refuse storage. Subject to conditions restricting the right of occupants 
to hold parking permits, the development would not contribute to on-street parking 
stress. For these reasons the development complies with Policies T3, T4 and CC7 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 Design and Heritage: The lightwells and external alterations associated with the 

development would be discreetly located to the rear of the building and would not 
be visible from the street, and only minimally visible from neighbouring properties 
and surrounding areas. The character and appearance of the Fitz-George and 
Fitzjames Conservation Area would be preserved, in accordance with Policies 
DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 22nd August 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Thames Water - Development Control 30.08.19 
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 11.09.19 
The Avenue Leaseholders Association 17.09.19 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
39 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   23.09.19 
17 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   24.09.19 
37 FITZGEORGE AVENUE LONDON W14 0SZ   26.09.19 
67 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SZ   23.09.19 
35 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
9A Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington London W14 0SY  26.09.19 
58 Fitzgeorge Avenue LONDON W14 0SW   23.09.19 
43A Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   05.09.19 
43A Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   05.09.19 
31, Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   22.09.19 
NAG     21.09.19 
Fitzgeorge Avenue 6 London W14 0SN  26.09.19 

Page 24



 

51A Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   21.09.19 
54 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   26.09.19 
6, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   26.09.19 
10 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
26 Fitzjames Avenue W14 0RR London W14 0RR  20.09.19 
41, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   22.09.19 
18 Fitzgeorge Ave London W14 0SN   21.09.19 
32 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   21.09.19 
25 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   23.09.19 
Flat 22 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 4 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 17 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 3 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
5B Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
48 Fitzgeorge Ave London W14 0SW   23.09.19 
15 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   29.09.19 
45 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 ORR   20.09.19 
15a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
Flat 26 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 27 Fitzjames Avenue     30.09.19 
36 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SW   24.09.19 
17 Fitzjames avenue London w14 0rp   22.09.19 
43a Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   26.09.19 
13 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   20.09.19 
21 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY   17.09.19 
33 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
7 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY   20.09.19 
34 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   25.09.19 
24 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   23.09.19 
8 Fitzgeorge Avenue London w14 0sn   25.09.19 
40 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR  20.09.19 
9 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SY   22.09.19 
3B Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   25.09.19 
33 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
21 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
21 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
7 Fitzjames avenue London w140rp   22.09.19 
49a Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington W14 0SZ   23.09.19 
2A Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
NAG     20.09.19 
12a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   24.09.19 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
27 Cairn Hill Newry BT34 2ST   24.09.19 
11 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   25.09.19 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
64a Fitzgeorge Avenue LONDON W14 0SW   26.09.19 
12a Fitzjames London W14 0RP   27.09.19 
53 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
53 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   23.09.19 
27 Cairn Hill Newry BT34 2ST   24.09.19 
67 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SZ   23.09.19 

Page 25



 

15a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
25 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SY   19.09.19 
 
OFFICER'S REPORT 
  
1.0 BACKGROUND  
  
1.1 The application relates to a 6-storey mansion block on the southern side of Fitz-
George Avenue (Nos. 29-47).  
 
1.2 The site is located within the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area. The 
boundary of the Gunter Estate Conservation Area is to the South and West of the site. 
 
1.3 The site does not contain any statutory or locally listed buildings. 
 
1.4 The site is within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. 
 
1.5 Fitz-George Avenue also benefits from excellent public transport accessibility (PTAL 
rating of 6a according to Transport for London's methodology). 
 
1.6 This application is for the creation of 1no. self-contained one bedroom flat through 
excavation and enlargement of the existing basement and creation of a new lightwell 
and associated installation of new windows and doors; and erection of a bike store. This 
application proposal is known as 'Flat 4'. 
 
1.7 Applications for similar proposals on adjacent parts of the site have also been 
submitted and are being considered alongside this one, as follows: 
 
- Flat 5 (Ref. 2019/02511/FUL) 
- Flat 6 (Ref. 2019/02512/FUL) 
 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
2.1 A series of applications have been previously been submitted for the creation of new 
flats at basement/ lower ground floor level around the Fitz-George and Fitzjames estate.  
 
2.2 In relation to this specific site, an application was refused by the council on 2nd May 
2018 for the same development that is now proposed (Ref. 2018/00680/FUL). It was 
refused on the following grounds: 
 
i)  The proposal would provide sub-standard accommodation for its future occupiers in 
terms of its claustrophobic and over-bearing sense of enclosure consequent to its lack 
of outlook. Additionally, due to the extent of enclosure around its window/door openings 
its habitable rooms would suffer from inadequate access to daylight and sunlight. 
 
ii)  Due to the proximity of the proposed amenity spaces to residential windows 
overlooking those spaces, and their narrow and enclosed locations which would be 
bounded by the high walls of the current buildings, the proposed development would 
impact unacceptably upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in terms of noise 
and nuisance and loss of privacy to the detriment of the quiet enjoyment of their homes. 
 

Page 26



 

iii) The site is located within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. The submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) does not contain details of the structural water-proofing 
methods for the basement or confirmation of active drainage devices or a non-return 
valve to be fitted within the basement. 
 
2.3 The applicants subsequently sought to appeal this decision and the appeal was 
dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate (Appeal Ref. 3210764). The Inspector's only 
ground for dismissing the appeal was flood risk. The Inspector did not agree with the 
council's other reasons for refusal and found the proposals to be acceptable in all other 
respects. The Inspector's decision carries significant weight in the determination of this 
application. 
 
3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
3.1 A site notice and press advert were published to advertise the application and 
notification letters were sent to the occupants of surrounding properties.  
 
3.2 A total of 65 individual objection comments were received from the following 
addresses: 
 
- 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 9a, 12a, 13, 15, 15a, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36, 37, 
41, 43a 48, 49a, 51a, 53, 58, 64a, 67 Fitz-George Avenue;   
- 2a, 3b, 5b, 7, 10, 11, 12a, 17, 21, 26, 27, 34, 39, 40, 43a, 45, 53, 54 Fitzjames 
Avenue;  
- 27 Cairn Hill, Newry, Northern Ireland. 
 
3.3 Two the 65 responses were received with no address given. 
 
3.4 One of the responses was received from the Chairperson of the Avenue 
Leaseholders Association (ALA). 
 
3.5 The objections can be summarised as follows: 
 
- The space in the car park will be reduced making it difficult for residents to navigate in 
and out of their assigned spaces; 
- Noise, nuisance and parking stress for existing residents during construction; 
- The location of the proposed external amenity spaces will significantly impact those 
living in the flats above; 
- The proposed development is unsuitable in a flood risk area;  
- There are practical construction issues that could prevent the implementation of the 
scheme;  
- The structure of the building may be compromised. 
 
3.6 Case Officer response: The material planning matters raised above will be 
addressed in the report below. Concerns regarding the impact of the development on 
party walls, or the structure of adjacent flats, may be properly addressed by means of 
an agreement under the Party Wall Act 1996 and are not material to the planning 
process, however, residents' concerns are noted. Similarly, questions over the 
practicalities of implementing the scheme are not a matter to be considered as part of 
the planning application. 
 
 

Page 27



 

3.7 External consultation responses were as follows: 
 
Thames Water -  No objection with regards to sewerage or water infrastructure capacity. 
  
Environment Agency - No objection, an informative is suggested about foul drainage. 
 
The Metropolitan Police's Crime Prevention Design Advisor was also consulted but did 
not respond. 
 
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
4.1 The main planning issues that must be assessed in considering this proposal are: 
  
- The principle of a new residential unit in this location; 
- The acceptability of the proposed basement development in terms of scale and impact 
on the local, natural and historic environment, and flood risk; 
- The quality of the proposed residential unit in terms of floor area, light, outlook, 
access, floor to ceiling height, amenity space, and refuse storage; 
- Highways matters including car parking and cycle parking. 
  
4.2 The development will be assessed in accordance with the policies and standards 
set out within the London Plan (2016), and the council's Local Plan (2018) and Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). The recent appeal decision 
(Appeal Ref. 3210767) in relation to this unit also carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. The Inspector's conclusions are discussed below. 
  
PRINCIPLE OF NEW RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
  
4.3 The borough has a target of 1,031 new residential units per year to be achieved 
through new build, conversion or change of use, as set by the London Plan (2016) and 
Local Plan (2018) Policy HO1. The unit would make a small positive contribution to the 
quantity of the borough's housing stock. 
  
ACCEPTABILITY OF BASEMENT DEVELOPMENT 
  
4.4 The proposal would involve excavating underneath part of the mansion block. Two 
lightwells totalling approximately 14sq.m. would be excavated to provide light and 
amenity space for the flat. Save for the new lightwells, excavation would be contained 
underneath the footprint of the existing building, in accordance with Criterion a) of Local 
Plan (2018) Policy DC11. 
  
4.5 There are no trees in the immediate vicinity of the site which stand to be affected 
through the proposed excavation underneath the building. The proposed lightwell would 
be mostly concealed from views from the service road to the rear of the building by the 
bulk and form of the existing mansion block, and the public street scene on Fitz-George 
Avenue would not be impacted in any way. For these reasons, Officers are satisfied that 
the character and appearance of the Fitz-George and Fitz-James Conservation Area 
would be preserved in accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policy DC8, and there would 
be no adverse impact on the natural and historic environment, in accordance with 
Criterion e) of Policy DC11.  
 

Page 28



 

4.6 Criterion e) of Policy DC11 also states that new basement accommodation will only 
be permitted where there is no adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining properties 
(Policies HO11 and DC4 also concern the protection of existing residential amenities). 
In this case, the main issue is noise. Internally, the new flat has the potential to create 
noise disturbance to habitable rooms within the ground floor flat directly above. To 
address this, a condition is recommended regarding enhanced sound insulation to be 
installed within the ceiling structure separating the new and existing flats to ensure that 
noise disturbance did not occur from the activities inside the flat. 
 
4.7 In respect of noise from the proposed external amenity space, Officers had 
previously raised concerns about the proximity of the new lightwell to existing habitable 
room windows to flats immediately above. This was given as a reason for refusing the 
previous application (Ref. 2018/00680/FUL). 
 
4.8 The Inspector for the appeal noted the council's concerns but said that: 
 
"The large mansion block has extensive areas of communal open space that seem, to 
me, capable of hosting organised social events. I observed evidence of smoking having 
taken place at the rear of the block where there are views into ground floor windows. 
The proposed lightwell is not a big area only about 2m wide thus restricting the level of 
use. Sound can reverberate resulting in noise fading slower. However, the proposed 
development would not involve any commercial activity and the outside space afforded 
to the unit would be of a similar scale to that which exists. I am therefore satisfied that, 
taking into account the high-density urban environment the appeal site is located in, the 
proposed development would not materially alter the existing situation in terms of how 
neighbours will be affected" (Para. 11 of the decision notice) 
 
4.9 For these reasons, the Inspector was satisfied that the development complies with 
Policies DC4, DC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018). Given the significant weight of 
the Inspector's decision with regards to this matter, no further objections are 
recommended to be raised on these grounds. 
 
4.10 With regards to the short-term impact of construction, a condition is recommended 
for a Construction Management Plan to be agreed, to ensure the amenities of residents 
are protected as far as possible throughout the construction phase, in accordance with 
Policy CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
  
QUALITY OF THE NEW RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
 
4.11 The Council expects all new residential units to be of high quality with regards to 
the considerations set out in Local Plan Policy HO11. Key Principle HS3 of the Planning 
Guidance SPD is also relevant with regards to internal space provision in residential 
conversions. 
  
4.12 The proposed one-bedroom flat would have a Gross Internal Area of 50.0 sq.m, 
which would be in accordance with the London Plan (2016) requirements and the 
DCLG's Technical Housing Standards - Nationally Described Space Standard (2015). 
The double bedroom would be 14.0 sq.m, which is also in accordance with the 
Technical Housing Standards. The submitted section shows that the floor-to-ceiling 
height would be a uniform 2.3m throughout the flat, which is considered to be 
satisfactory. 
  

Page 29



 

4.13 The proposed flat would be located entirely below ground floor level with a two 
lightwells of totalling approximately 14sq.m. forming the only source of natural light. The 
lightwells would also provide private amenity space for the occupants. 
 
4.14 In respect of light and outlook to the new unit, Officers previously raised concerns 
that it's outlook would be poor. The windows to both courtyards look onto a deep and, 
Officers considered, oppressive space covered by an external walkway and staircase, 
and enclosed on three sides by the elevations of the existing building as well as by the 
railings that would be necessary to surround the lightwell. This was given as a reason 
for refusing the previous application. 
 
4.15 In dismissing this reason, the Inspector said that: 
 
"The proposed development would include private outside amenity space within eastern 
and western lightwells, accessed directly through living room doors. There would also 
be stairs up to the communal areas in addition to the principal access/egress into the 
shared stairwell. I consider that none of this would result in either cramped conditions or 
a sense of confinement. There will be an outlook from the bedroom and living areas, 
albeit into a lightwells. Only one window will be within very close proximity to a wall, and 
I am satisfied that there is sufficient space for planters and other decorative features." 
(Para 8). 
 
4.16 Further, Officers raised concerns about the robustness of the submitted daylight 
and sunlight assessment, however the Inspector states that "I observed from my site 
inspection that the basement is artificially lit. The proposal would introduce lightwells 
and windows/doors allowing light to reach new rooms in the proposed flat and that 
calculations demonstrate that satisfactory standards can be met" (Para 18). 
 
4.17 On this basis, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would comply with 
Paragraph 123 of the NPPF, Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies HO4 
and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018) which all require residential development to be of 
the highest quality internally. Given the decisive weight of the Inspector's decision with 
regards to this matter, no further objections are recommended to be raised on these 
grounds. 
 
4.18 The drawings indicate that access to the new unit would be via external steps into 
the lightwells which lead directly into either the living/dining area through two sets of 
French doors. There is also an internal entrance, through a downward extension of the 
existing stair core and lift shaft from ground to basement level. Officers previously 
raised concerns about the feasibility and convenience of this arrangement, but it was 
not included as a reason for refusal as it was not considered to be a planning matter. 
On this issue, the Inspector said "Residents have raised concerns about the technical 
feasibility of the proposal including the possible effects on the foundations. These are 
matters for consideration by the building control authority on receipt of notification or full 
plans" (para. 17). 
 
FLOOD RISK 
  
4.19 The site is located within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. The previous 
application was objected to by Officers on the grounds that the original Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) did not contain details of the structural water-proofing methods for 
the basement or confirmation of active drainage devices or a non-return valve to be 

Page 30



 

fitted within the basement, necessary to protect the new unit from groundwater and 
sewer surcharge flooding. The Inspector also noted that the submitted FRA related only 
to the northern side of the street and therefore was not specifically relevant to the 
appeal site. 
 
4.20 Officers are satisfied that both of these concerns have been addressed within the 
revised documents submitted with the current application. An updated Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) has been submitted which relates to the specific application site. 
Further, a Groundwater Impact Assessment has also been submitted which confirms 
details of structural water-proofing methods for the basement including an active 
drainage device and a non-return valve to be fitted within the basement.  
 
4.21 As such, it is considered that the council's previous reason for refusal and the 
issues raised by the Inspector have been satisfactorily addressed and the proposal is 
now in compliance with Policies CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). An informative 
has been attached with regards to sustainable drainage systems, as it is considered 
that there is there is only limited opportunities for small-scale SuDS as part of this 
development. 
 
REFUSE STORAGE 
 
4.22 It is suggested that the existing waste management procedure, where estate staff 
collect refuse from outside front doors six times a week and take it to the communal 
bins to the rear of the blocks on the northern side of the road, would also be applied to 
the new units. The paladins are then collected by LBHF twice weekly. This arrangement 
is considered to be acceptable and, following Officers' inspection of the situation on site 
prior to collection day, it was clear that there would be capacity for the additional refuse 
generated by this proposal (in addition to that generated by the other proposals for Flats 
5 and 6). For these reasons no objections are recommended to be raised in terms of 
Local Plan (2018) Policy CC7. 
  
CAR PARKING 
 
4.23 Local Plan (2018) Policy T4 sets maximum parking standards in relation to 
residential development and states that all residential developments in areas with good 
transport accessibility should aim for significantly less than 1 space per unit. The site 
benefits from a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a, which is excellent, 
and is in close proximity to West Kensington and Barons Court Underground stations, 
and Kensington (Olympia) Overground station in addition to a number of bus stops on 
North End Road. The application does not propose any additional parking spaces, and 
in order to promote sustainable transport and prevent an increase in parking stress in 
accordance with Policy T4, conditions are recommended to ensure that occupants 
would not be eligible to hold street parking permits. 
 
CYCLE PARKING 
 
4.24 A new freestanding, covered cycle store with space for three cycles is proposed to 
be erected adjacent to the flank wall of the mansion block at ground floor level, to the 
North of the proposed site. This new store would be sufficient to meet the requirements 
of Policy T3 and Appendix 8 of the Local Plan (2018). A condition is recommended 
requiring the cycle store to be implemented prior to the occupation of the new unit. 
 

Page 31



 

CUMULATIVE IMPACT 
 
4.25 Officers previously raised concerns about the cumulative impact of the three 
basement proposals (for Flats 4, 5 and 6) and consider that they should be considered 
in conjunction with one another even though separate applications have been 
submitted. On this matter, the Inspector stated that "I am aware that there are other 
proposals for basement development within this residential complex and the council 
asks that the cumulative impact be considered. Residents have also expressed concern 
about setting a precedent. However, this proposal must be assessed on its own merits 
and it has." (Para. 16.) 
 
 
5.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 On balance, in light of the above, Officers recommend that planning permission be 
granted for this development. 
 
 

Page 32



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 

Site Address: 
Flat 5  9 - 27 Fitz-George Avenue  London  W14 0SY   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/02511/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
23.08.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
03.12.2019 

Case Officer: 
Grace Harrison 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Fitz-George And Fitzjames 
Conservation Area - Number 19 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



 

 
Applicant: 
 
C/o Agent    
 
Description: 
Creation of 1no. self-contained two bedroom flat at lower ground floor level through 
change of use of the existing basement storage area and excavation and enlargement 
of the existing basement and lightwell; creation of a new lightwell and associated 
installation of new windows and doors; and erection of a bike store. 
Drg Nos: 2088-16p-GF-PLAN; 2088-16pA-PLAN; 2088-16pB; 2088-sk08A. 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development shall be carried out only in complete accordance with the 

submitted drawings which have been approved and which are stated on this 
decision notice.  

          
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning permission hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC4, DC8, DC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
 3) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until provision has 

been made for the storage of three bicycles, in the form of the dedicated cycle 
storage area at basement floor level, as indicated on the approved drawing no. 
2088-sk08A. Thereafter the provision for cycle storage shall be so maintained for 
the life of the development. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for cycle storage and thereby encourage 

sustainable and active modes of transport, in accordance with Policy T3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 

Page 34



 

 4) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained 
within the Flood Risk Assessment (Herrington Consulting, July 2019 and 
Groundwater Impact Assessment (GB Card and Partners, July 2019) submitted 
with this application. All flood prevention and mitigation measures should be 
installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
development. 

  
 To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface 

water from the site, and to reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants, in accordance with Policy CC2 and CC3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
 5) Prior to the occupation of the basement accommodation hereby approved, a non-

return valve and pump device should be installed to prevent sewage 'back-surging' 
into the basement in times of heavy rain and to allow the property's sewage to 
continue to flow properly into the sewer network. 

  
 To protect the new basement accommodation from flooding, as recommended by 

Thames Water and in accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policy CC2, London Plan 
(2015) Policy 5.12 and Part 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

  
 6) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
Details shall include control measures for dust, noise, vibration, lighting, delivery 
locations, restriction of hours of work and all associated activities audible beyond 
the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800 -1300 hrs on 
Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other interested parties of 
proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible phone 
contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works.  
Thereafter the approved details shall be implemented throughout the project 
period.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 7) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced  sound insulation value DnT,w 
and L'nT,w of at least 5dB above the Building Regulations value, for the 
floor/ceiling /wall structures separating different types of rooms/ uses in adjoining 
dwellings. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
 8) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the installation 

of the Air Source Heat Pumps or Electric Boilers to be provided for space heating 
and hot water shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use 
of the development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

Page 35



 

  
 In the interests of air quality, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 

(2018). 
 
 9) The new residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the Council 

has been notified in writing (and has acknowledged such notification) of the full 
postal address of the residential unit. Such notification shall be to the Council's 
Head of Development Management and shall quote the planning application 
number specified in this decision letter. 

  
 In order that the Council can update its records to ensure that parking permits are 

not issued to the occupiers of the residential unit hereby approved, and thus 
ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers 
of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-street car 
parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
10) No occupiers of the new residential unit hereby permitted, with the exception of 

disabled persons who are Blue Badge holders, shall apply to the Council for a 
parking permit or retain such a permit, and if such a permit is issued it shall be 
surrendered to the Council within seven days of written receipt. 

  
 In order to ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of 

the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-
street car parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
11) The new residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as 

a scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority to ensure that all occupiers, other than those with disabilities who are 
Blue Badge holders, have no entitlement to parking permits from the Council and 
to ensure that occupiers are informed, prior to occupation, of such restriction. The 
residential unit shall not be occupied otherwise than in accordance with the 
approved scheme unless prior written agreement is issued by the Council. 

                                                                   
 In order that the prospective occupiers of the residential unit are made aware of 

the fact that they will not be entitled to an on-street car parking permit, in the 
interests of the proper management of parking, and to ensure that the 
development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-street car parking 
stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
12) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall comprise: a 
desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at the site and 
surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated with those 
uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating potential pollutant 
linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those in the 
surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment 
of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages 
to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 36



 

Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
13) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and 
target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground 
gas, surface and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
14) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 
confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
15) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works 
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved 
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 37



 

Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
16) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full and a verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 
disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the 
Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required remediation shall 
be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and verification of 
these works included in the verification report. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
17) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past 
the completion of development works to verify the success of the remediation 
undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no 
residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018) 

Page 38



 

 
18) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Logistics Plan shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the council. This 
must be in accordance with Transport for London (TfL) requirements and should 
seek to minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict 
construction trips to off-peak hours only. Thereafter the approved details shall be 
implemented throughout the project period. 

  
 To ensure that construction works do not adversely impact on the operation of the 

public highway, in accordance with Policies T1 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
19) All new windows and doors shall be formed of timber and painted white, and 

permanently retained in this form thereafter. 
  
 To ensure a satisfactory appearance and to preserve the character and 

appearance of the building and the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area, 
in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
20) All new balustrades and screening shall be formed of glass, and permanently 

retained as such thereafter. 
  
 To ensure a satisfactory appearance and to preserve the character and 

appearance of the building and the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area, 
in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
21) All refuse and recycling generated by the occupants of the new dwelling shall be 

stored in the existing communal refuse storage bins for the building. At no time 
shall refuse or recycling bags be placed on the street. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for the storage of refuse and recycling on site, 

and thereby prevent it being stored on the highway, in accordance with Policy CC7 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) Principle: The proposed development would make a small positive contribution 

towards the quantity of the borough's housing stock, helping to achieve the 
London Plan (2016) and Local Plan (2018) target of 1,031 residential units per 
year through new build, conversion of change of use. The proposed enlargement 
of the existing basement is also considered to be acceptable in principle when 
assessed against Policy DC11 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 Quality of Accommodation: The proposed development provides an acceptable 

standard of living accommodation, in accordance with Paragraph 123 of the NPPF 
(2019), Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies HO4 and HO11 of the 
Local Plan (2018) which all require residential development to be of the highest 
quality internally. 

  
 Flood risk: The risk of flooding to the new unit has been satisfactorily addressed by 

way of the proposed flood risk mitigation measures, in accordance with Policies 
CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018).  

  

Page 39



 

 Highways: The proposed development has made satisfactory provision for cycle 
storage and refuse storage. Subject to conditions restricting the right of occupants 
to hold parking permits, the development would not contribute to on-street parking 
stress. For these reasons the development complies with Policies T3, T4 and CC7 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 Design and Heritage: The lightwells and external alterations associated with the 

development would be discreetly located to the rear of the building and would not 
be visible from the street, and only minimally visible from neighbouring properties 
and surrounding areas. The character and appearance of the Fitz-George and 
Fitzjames Conservation Area would be preserved, in accordance with Policies 
DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 22nd August 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Thames Water - Development Control 30.08.19 
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 11.09.19 
The Avenue Leaseholders Association 17.09.19 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
67 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SZ   23.09.19 
9A Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington London W14 0SY  26.09.19 
NAG     21.09.19 
37 FITZGEORGE AVENUE LONDON W14 0SZ   26.09.19 
51A Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   21.09.19 
53 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
17 Fitzjames avenue London w14 0rp   25.09.19 
25 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   23.09.19 
67 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SZ   23.09.19 
12a Fitzjames Avenue London W140RP   27.09.19 
15 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   29.09.19 
35 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 

Page 40



 

41, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0OZ   22.09.19 
18 Fitzgeorge Ave London W14 0SN   21.09.19 
43a Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   26.09.19 
64a Fitzgeorge Avenue LONDON W14 0SW   26.09.19 
40 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR  20.09.19 
6, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   26.09.19 
15 Via Roma Griante (Co) Italia 22011   24.09.19 
5B Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
3B Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   26.09.19 
33 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ     26.09.19 
8 Fitzgeorge Avenue London w14 0sn   25.09.19 
39 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   23.09.19 
27 Cairn Hill Newry BT34 2ST   24.09.19 
6, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   26.09.19 
15a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
36 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SW   24.09.19 
9 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
24 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   23.09.19 
17 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   24.09.19 
58 Fitzgeorge Avenue LONDON W14 0SW   23.09.19 
43A Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   05.09.19 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
31, Fitz-George Avenue, London W14 0SZ   22.09.19 
39A Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   26.09.19 
1 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
33 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   26.09.19 
34 Fitzjames Avenue London W11 0RR   25.09.19 
27 Cairn Hill Newry BT34 2ST   24.09.19 
26 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   20.09.19 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
13 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   20.09.19 
Fitzjames avenue London w140rp   22.09.19 
53 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   23.09.19 
49a Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington W14 0SZ   23.09.19 
48 Fitzgeorge Ave London W14 0SW   23.09.19 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
12a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   24.09.19 
12a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   24.09.19 
Fitzgeorge Avenue 6 London W14 0SN  26.09.19 
Flat 27 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   30.09.19 
Flat 17 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 4 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 22 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 3 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
Flat 26 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
54 Fitzjames Avenue London W140RR   26.09.19 
15a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
25 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SY   19.09.19 
43A Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   05.09.19 
11 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   25.09.19 
10 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
 

Page 41



 

 
OFFICER'S REPORT 
  
1.0 BACKGROUND  
  
1.1 The application relates to a 6-storey mansion block on the southern side of 
Fitzgeorge Avenue (Nos. 9-27).  
 
1.2 The site is located within the Fitzgeorge and Fitz-James Conservation Area. The 
boundary of the Gunter Estate Conservation Area is to the South and West of the site. 
 
1.3 The site does not contain any statutory or locally listed buildings. 
 
1.4 The site is within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. 
 
1.5 Fitz-George Avenue also benefits from excellent public transport accessibility (PTAL 
rating of 6a according to Transport for London's methodology). 
 
1.6 This application is for the creation of 1no. self-contained one bedroom flat through 
excavation and enlargement of the existing basement and creation of a new lightwell 
and associated installation of new windows and doors; and erection of a bike store. This 
application proposal is known as 'Flat 5'. 
 
1.7 Applications for similar proposals on adjacent parts of the site have also been 
submitted and are being considered alongside this one, as follows: 
 
- Flat 4 (Ref. 2019/02510/FUL) 
- Flat 6 (Ref. 2019/02512/FUL) 
 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
2.1 A series of applications have been previously been submitted for the creation of new 
flats at basement/ lower ground floor level around the Fitzgeorge and Fitz-James estate.  
 
2.2 In relation to this specific site, an application was refused by the council on 2nd May 
2018 for the same development that is now proposed (Ref. 2018/00681/FUL). It was 
refused on the following grounds: 
 
(i) The proposal would provide sub-standard accommodation for its future occupiers in 
terms of its claustrophobic and over-bearing sense of enclosure consequent to its lack 
of outlook. As such the proposal is considered to be contrary to the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2012), policy 3.5 (Quality and design of housing developments) of 
the London Plan (2016) and policies HO4 (Housing quality and density) and HO11 
(Detailed residential standards) of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). 
 
(ii) Due to the proximity of the proposed amenity spaces to residential windows 
overlooking those spaces, and their narrow and enclosed locations which would be 
bounded by the high walls of the current buildings, the proposed development would 
impact unacceptably upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in terms of noise 
and nuisance and loss of privacy to the detriment of the quiet enjoyment of their homes. 
In these respects the development is considered to be contrary to Policies DC11, DC4 
and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018). 

Page 42



 

 
(iii) The proposal would have a detrimental impact on the efficient operation of the public 
highway. The proposal would result in the loss of an existing parking space, which 
would have a detrimental impact on local car parking by displacing additional vehicles 
onto an already heavily stressed local highway network. The proposed development is 
therefore considered not to be in accordance with the requirements of Policy T4 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 
 
(iv) The site is located within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. The submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) does not contain details of the structural water-proofing 
methods for the basement or confirmation of active drainage devices or a non-return 
valve to be fitted within the basement. In this respect the development fails to 
demonstrate that flood risks to the new flat have been satisfactorily addressed, contrary 
to Local Plan (2018) Policy CC3. 
 
2.3 The applicants subsequently sought to appeal this decision and the appeal was 
dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate (Appeal Ref. 3210765). The Inspector's only 
grounds for dismissing the appeal was flood risk. The Inspector did not agree with the 
council's other reasons for refusal and found the proposals to be acceptable in all other 
respects. The Inspector's decision carries significant weight in the determination of this 
application. 
 
3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
3.1 A site notice and press advert were published to advertise the application and 
notification letters were sent to the occupants of surrounding properties.  
 
3.2 A total of 61 objection comments were received to this application, from the 
following addresses: 
 
-  3, 4, 6, 8, 9, 9a, 12a, 13, 15, 15a, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 31, 33, 35, 36, 37, 41, 
43a, 48, 49a, 51a, 53, 58, 64a, 67 Fitz-George Avenue 
-  3b, 5b, 10, 11, 12a, 17, 26, 27, 34, 39, 40, 43a, 45, 53, 54 Fitzjames Avenue; 
-  15 Via Roma, Griante, Italy; 
-  27 Cairn Hill, Newry, Northern Ireland. 
 
3.3 A response was also received from the Chair of the Avenue Leaseholders 
Association, a local residents' group. 
 
3.4 Two of the responses were received with no address given. 
 
3.4 The objections can be summarised as follows: 
 
- Outlook from the proposed flat will be bleak and depressing; 
- Light levels within the flat and its amenity space will be poor; 
- The space in the car park will be reduced making it difficult for residents to navigate in 
and out of their assigned spaces; 
- Noise, nuisance and parking stress for existing residents during construction; 
- The location of the proposed external amenity spaces will significantly impact those 
living in the flats above; 
- The proposed development is unsuitable for a flood risk area; 

Page 43



 

- There are practical construction issues that could prevent the implementation of the 
scheme; 
- The structure of the building may be compromised. 
 
3.4 Case Officer response: The material planning matters raised above will be 
addressed in the report below. Concerns regarding the impact of the development on 
party walls or the structure of adjacent flats may be properly addressed by means of an 
agreement under the Party Wall Act (1996) and are not material to the planning 
process, however, residents' concerns are noted. Similarly, questions over the 
practicalities of implementing the scheme are not a matter to be considered as part of 
the planning application. 
  
3.5 External consultation responses were as follows: 
 
Thames Water -  No objection with regards to sewerage or water infrastructure capacity. 
  
Environment Agency - No objection, an informative is suggested about foul drainage. 
 
The Metropolitan Police's Crime Prevention Design Advisor was also consulted but did 
not respond. 
 
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
4.1 The main planning issues that must be assessed in considering this proposal are: 
  
- The principle of a new residential unit in this location; 
- The acceptability of the proposed basement development in terms of scale and impact 
on the local, natural and historic environment, and flood risk; 
- The quality of the proposed residential unit in terms of floor area, light, outlook, 
access, floor to ceiling height, amenity space, and refuse storage; 
- Highways matters including car parking and cycle parking. 
  
4.2 The development will be assessed in accordance with the policies and standards 
set out within the London Plan (2016), and the council's Local Plan (2018) and Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). The recent appeal decision 
(Appeal Ref. 3210767) in relation to this unit also carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. The Inspector's conclusions are discussed below. 
  
PRINCIPLE OF NEW RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
  
4.3 The borough has a target of 1,031 new residential units per year to be achieved 
through new build, conversion or change of use, as set by the London Plan (2016) and 
Local Plan (2018) Policy HO1. The unit would make a small positive contribution to the 
quantity of the borough's housing stock. 
  
ACCEPTABILITY OF BASEMENT DEVELOPMENT 
  
4.4 The proposal would involve excavating underneath part of the mansion block. Two 
lightwells totalling approximately 20sq.m. would be excavated to provide light and 
amenity space for the flat. Save for the new lightwells, excavation would be contained 
underneath the footprint of the existing building, in accordance with Criterion a) of Local 
Plan (2018) Policy DC11. 

Page 44



 

  
4.5 There are no trees in the immediate vicinity of the site which stand to be affected 
through the proposed excavation underneath the building. The proposed lightwells 
would be mostly concealed from views from the service road to the rear of the building 
by the bulk and form of the existing mansion block, and the public street scene on 
Fitzgeorge Avenue would not be impacted in any way. For these reasons, Officers are 
satisfied that the character and appearance of the Fitzgeorge and Fitz-James 
Conservation Area would be preserved in accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policy 
DC8, and there would be no adverse impact on the natural and historic environment, in 
accordance with Criterion e) of Policy DC11.  
 
4.6 Criterion e) of Policy DC11 also states that new basement accommodation will only 
be permitted where there is no adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining properties 
(Policies HO11 and DC4 also concern the protection of existing residential amenities). 
In this case, the main issue is noise. Internally, the new flat has the potential to create 
noise disturbance to habitable rooms within the ground floor flat directly above. To 
address this, a condition is recommended regarding enhanced sound insulation to be 
installed within the ceiling structure separating the new and existing flats to ensure that 
noise disturbance does not occur from the activities inside the flat. 
 
4.7 In respect of noise from the proposed external amenity space, Officers had 
previously raised concerns about the proximity of the new lightwell to existing habitable 
room windows to flats immediately above. This was given as a reason for refusing the 
previous application (Ref. 2018/00681/FUL). 
 
4.8 The Inspector for the appeal noted the council's concerns but said that: 
 
"The large mansion block has extensive areas of communal open space that seem, to 
me, capable of hosting organised social events. I observed evidence of smoking having 
taken place at the rear of the block where there are views into ground floor windows. 
The proposed lightwell is not a big area only about 2m wide thus restricting the level of 
use. Sound can reverberate resulting in noise fading slower. However, the proposed 
development would not involve any commercial activity and the outside space afforded 
to the unit would be of a similar scale to that which exists. I am therefore satisfied that, 
taking into account the high-density urban environment the appeal site is located in, the 
proposed development would not materially alter the existing situation in terms of how 
neighbours will be affected" (para. 11 of the decision notice) 
 
4.9 For these reasons, the Inspector was satisfied that the development complies with 
Policies DC4, DC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018). Given the significant weight of 
the Inspector's decision with regards to this matter, no further objections are 
recommended to be raised on these grounds. 
 
4.10 With regards to the short-term impact of construction, a condition is recommended 
for a Construction Management Plan to be agreed, to ensure the amenities of residents 
are protected as far as possible throughout the construction phase, in accordance with 
Policy CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
QUALITY OF THE NEW RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
 
4.11 The Council expects all new residential units to be of high quality with regards to 
the considerations set out in Local Plan Policy HO11. Key Principle HS3 of the Planning 

Page 45



 

Guidance SPD is also relevant with regards to internal space provision in residential 
conversions. 
  
4.12 The proposed two-bedroom flat would have a Gross Internal Area of 70.6 sq.m, 
which would be in accordance with the London Plan (2016) requirements and the 
DCLG's Technical Housing Standards - Nationally Described Space Standard (2015). 
The main double bedroom would be 14.7sq.m, which is also in accordance with the 
Technical Housing Standards. The submitted section shows that the floor-to-ceiling 
height would be a uniform 2.3m throughout the flat, which is considered to be 
satisfactory. 
  
4.13 The proposed flat would be located entirely below ground floor level with a two 
lightwells (one on each side of the flat) totalling approximately 20sq.m. forming the only 
source of natural light. This lightwells, particularly the larger one (17sq.m.) would also 
provide private amenity space for the occupants. 
 
4.14 In respect of light and outlook to the new unit, Officers previously raised concerns 
that it's outlook would be poor. Although the larger of the two lightwells would be open 
to the sky with no obstructions, it would be enclosed on three sides by the elevations of 
the existing building as well as by the railings that would be necessary to surround the 
lightwell. Although a Daylight and Sunlight Report was submitted in support of the 
application that showed the internal light levels would be within acceptable limits, 
Officers had significant concerns about the robustness of that assessment. This was 
given as a reason for refusing the previous application. 
 
4.15 With respect to this matter, the Inspector said that: 
 
"I observed from my site visit that the basement is artificially lit. The proposal would 
introduce lightwells and windows/ doors allowing light to reach new rooms in the 
proposed flat and that calculations demonstrate that satisfactory standards can be met. 
The outlook from windows/ doors would be onto amenity areas which is not uncommon 
for this type of development" (para. 18). 
 
4.16 On this basis, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would comply with 
Paragraph 123 of the NPPF (2019), Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies 
HO4 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018) which all require residential development to be 
of the highest quality internally. Given the significant weight of the Inspector's decision 
with regards to this matter, no further objections are recommended to be raised on 
these grounds. 
 
4.17 The drawings indicate that access to the new unit would be via external steps into 
the lightwell which lead directly into either the main bedroom or the living/dining area 
through two sets of French doors. There is also an internal entrance, through a 
downward extension of the existing stair core and lift shaft from ground to basement 
level. Officers previously raised concerns about the feasibility and convenience of this 
arrangement, but it was not included as a reason for refusal as it was not considered to 
be a planning matter. On this issue, the Inspector said "residents have raised concerns 
about the technical feasibility of the proposal and the possible effect on the foundations, 
the lift and the use of glass. These are matters for consideration by the building control 
authority on receipt of notification or full plans." (para. 17). 
 
 

Page 46



 

FLOOD RISK 
  
4.18 The site is located within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. The previous 
application was objected to by Officers on the grounds that the original Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) did not contain details of the structural water-proofing methods for 
the basement or confirmation of active drainage devices or a non-return valve to be 
fitted within the basement, necessary to protect the new unit from groundwater and 
sewer surcharge flooding. The Inspector also noted that the submitted FRA related only 
to the northern side of the street and therefore was not specifically relevant to the 
appeal site. 
 
4.19 Officers are satisfied that both of these concerns have been addressed within the 
revised documents submitted with the current application. An updated Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) has been submitted which relates to the specific application site. 
Further, a Groundwater Impact Assessment has also been submitted which confirms 
details of structural water-proofing methods for the basement including an active 
drainage device and a non-return valve to be fitted within the basement.  
 
4.20 As such, it is considered that the council's previous reason for refusal and the 
issues raised by the Inspector have been satisfactorily addressed and the proposal is 
now in compliance with Policies CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). An informative 
has been attached with regards to sustainable drainage systems, as it is considered 
that there is there is only limited opportunities for small-scale SuDS as part of this 
development. 
 
REFUSE STORAGE 
 
4.21 It is suggested that the existing waste management procedure, where estate staff 
collect refuse from outside front doors six times a week and take it to the communal 
bins to the rear of the blocks on the northern side of the road, would also be applied to 
the new units. The paladins are then collected by LBHF twice weekly. This arrangement 
is considered to be acceptable and, following Officers' inspection of the situation on site 
prior to collection day, it was clear that there would be capacity for the additional refuse 
generated by this proposal (in addition to that generated by the other proposals for Flats 
4 and 5). For these reasons no objections are recommended to be raised in terms of 
Local Plan (2018) Policy CC7. 
  
CAR PARKING 
 
4.22 Local Plan (2018) Policy T4 sets maximum parking standards in relation to 
residential development and states that all residential developments in areas with good 
transport accessibility should aim for significantly less than 1 space per unit. The site 
benefits from a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a, which is excellent, 
and is in close proximity to West Kensington and Barons Court Underground stations, 
and Kensington (Olympia) Overground station in addition to a number of bus stops on 
North End Road. The application does not propose any additional parking spaces, and 
in order to promote sustainable transport and prevent an increase in parking stress in 
accordance with Policy T4, conditions are recommended to ensure that occupants 
would not be eligible to hold street parking permits. 
 
4.23 The creation of the proposed lightwell would result in the loss of an existing parking 
space which is marked out within the existing courtyard area. No information is provided 

Page 47



 

about who owns this space, but it was occupied at the time of an Officer site visit in April 
2018. Officers raised concerns about this as part of the previous application, and it was 
included as a reason for refusing the previous application. On this matter, the Inspector 
stated: 
 
"I observed during my site visit that Fitz-George Avenue and neighbouring streets are 
within Controlled Parking Zone E. On street parking is not limited to permit holders and 
restrictions apply only part of the day. The Council's car parking standards require a 4 
bed unit to have a maximum of 2 spaces but no minimum. The existing parking space 
that would be lost was occupied by a contractor's van, at the time of my inspection. It 
was not clear to me if that space was allocated or for general use. Notwithstanding this 
reduced provision, this location is accessible by public transport, and with a high PTAL 
rating of 6a, it would therefore not be unacceptable, in my view, for the appeal scheme 
to provide no off street parking. Therefore, I conclude that the proposal would comply 
with policy T4 of the Local Plan as that sets maximum parking standards but no 
minimum for residential development." (Para. 14). 
 
4.24 Given the significant weight of the Inspector's decision with regards to this matter, 
no further objections are recommended to be raised in terms of Policy T4 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
CYCLE PARKING 
 
4.25 A new freestanding, covered cycle store with space for three cycles is proposed to 
be erected adjacent to the flank wall of the mansion block at ground floor level, to the 
North of the new lightwell. This new store would be sufficient to meet the requirements 
of Policy T3 and Appendix 8 of the Local Plan (2018). A condition is recommended 
requiring the cycle store to be implemented prior to the occupation of the new unit. 
 
CUMULATIVE IMPACT 
 
4.26 Officers previously raised concerns about the cumulative impact of the three 
basement proposals (for Flats 4, 5 and 6) and consider that they should be considered 
in conjunction with one another even though separate applications have been 
submitted. On this matter, the Inspector stated that "I am aware that there are other 
proposals for basement development within this residential complex and the council 
asks that the cumulative impact be considered. Residents have also expressed concern 
about setting a precedent. However, this proposal must be assessed on its own merits 
and it has." (Para. 16.) 
 
5.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 On balance, in light of the above, Officers recommend that planning permission be 
granted for this development. 
 
 

Page 48



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 

Site Address: 
Flat 6  49 - 67 Fitz-George Avenue  London  W14 0SZ   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/02512/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
23.08.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
03.12.2019 

Case Officer: 
Grace Harrison 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Fitz-George And Fitzjames 
Conservation Area - Number 19 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 

 
Applicant: 
 
C/o Agent     
 
Description: 
Creation of 1no. self-contained one bedroom flat at lower ground floor level through 
change of use of the existing basement storage area and excavation and enlargement 
of the existing basement and lightwell; creation of a new lightwell and associated 
installation of new windows and doors; and erection of a bike store. 
Drg Nos: 2088-18p; 2088-sk09A; 2088-18p-PLAN. 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development shall be carried out only in complete accordance with the 

submitted drawings which have been approved and which are stated on this 
decision notice.  

          
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning permission hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC4, DC8, DC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
 3) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until provision has 

been made for the storage of three bicycles, in the form of the dedicated cycle 
storage area at basement floor level, as indicated on the approved drawing no. 
2088-sk09A. Thereafter the provision for cycle storage shall be so maintained for 
the life of the development. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for cycle storage and thereby encourage 

sustainable and active modes of transport, in accordance with Policy T3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 

Page 50



 

 4) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained 
within the Flood Risk Assessment (Herrington Consulting, July 2019 and 
Groundwater Impact Assessment (GB Card and Partners, July 2019) submitted 
with this application. All flood prevention and mitigation measures should be 
installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
development. 

  
 To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface 

water from the site, and to reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants, in accordance with Policy CC2 and CC3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
 5) Prior to the occupation of the basement accommodation hereby approved, a non-

return valve and pump device should be installed to prevent sewage 'back-surging' 
into the basement in times of heavy rain and to allow the property's sewage to 
continue to flow properly into the sewer network. 

  
 To protect the new basement accommodation from flooding, as recommended by 

Thames Water and in accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policy CC2, London Plan 
(2015) Policy 5.12 and Part 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

  
 6) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
Details shall include control measures for dust, noise, vibration, lighting, delivery 
locations, restriction of hours of work and all associated activities audible beyond 
the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800 -1300 hrs on 
Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other interested parties of 
proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible phone 
contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works.  
Thereafter the approved details shall be implemented throughout the project 
period.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 7) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced  sound insulation value DnT,w 
and L'nT,w of at least 5dB above the Building Regulations value, for the 
floor/ceiling /wall structures separating different types of rooms/ uses in adjoining 
dwellings. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
 8) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the installation 

of the Air Source Heat Pumps or Electric Boilers to be provided for space heating 
and hot water shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use 
of the development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

Page 51



 

  
 In the interests of air quality, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 

(2018). 
 
 9) The new residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the Council 

has been notified in writing (and has acknowledged such notification) of the full 
postal address of the residential unit. Such notification shall be to the Council's 
Head of Development Management and shall quote the planning application 
number specified in this decision letter. 

  
 In order that the Council can update its records to ensure that parking permits are 

not issued to the occupiers of the residential unit hereby approved, and thus 
ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers 
of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-street car 
parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
10) No occupiers of the new residential unit hereby permitted, with the exception of 

disabled persons who are Blue Badge holders, shall apply to the Council for a 
parking permit or retain such a permit, and if such a permit is issued it shall be 
surrendered to the Council within seven days of written receipt. 

  
 In order to ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of 

the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-
street car parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
11) The new residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as 

a scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority to ensure that all occupiers, other than those with disabilities who are 
Blue Badge holders, have no entitlement to parking permits from the Council and 
to ensure that occupiers are informed, prior to occupation, of such restriction. The 
residential unit shall not be occupied otherwise than in accordance with the 
approved scheme unless prior written agreement is issued by the Council. 

                                                                   
 In order that the prospective occupiers of the residential unit are made aware of 

the fact that they will not be entitled to an on-street car parking permit, in the 
interests of the proper management of parking, and to ensure that the 
development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring residential properties by adding to the level of on-street car parking 
stress in the area, in accordance with Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
12) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall comprise: a 
desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at the site and 
surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated with those 
uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating potential pollutant 
linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those in the 
surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment 
of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages 
to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 52



 

Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
13) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and 
target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground 
gas, surface and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
14) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 
confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
15) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works 
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved 
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 53



 

Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
16) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full and a verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 
disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the 
Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required remediation shall 
be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and verification of 
these works included in the verification report. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
17) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past 
the completion of development works to verify the success of the remediation 
undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no 
residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018) 

Page 54



 

 
18) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Logistics Plan shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the council. This 
must be in accordance with Transport for London (TfL) requirements and should 
seek to minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict 
construction trips to off-peak hours only. Thereafter the approved details shall be 
implemented throughout the project period. 

  
 To ensure that construction works do not adversely impact on the operation of the 

public highway, in accordance with Policies T1 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
19) All new windows and doors shall be formed of timber and painted white, and 

permanently retained in this form thereafter. 
  
 To ensure a satisfactory appearance and to preserve the character and 

appearance of the building and the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area, 
in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
20) All new balustrades and screening shall be formed of glass, and permanently 

retained as such thereafter. 
  
 To ensure a satisfactory appearance and to preserve the character and 

appearance of the building and the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area, 
in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
21) All refuse and recycling generated by the occupants of the new dwelling shall be 

stored in the existing communal refuse storage bins for the building. At no time 
shall refuse or recycling bags be placed on the street. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for the storage of refuse and recycling on site, 

and thereby prevent it being stored on the highway, in accordance with Policy CC7 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) Principle: The proposed development would make a small positive contribution 

towards the quantity of the borough's housing stock, helping to achieve the 
London Plan (2016) and Local Plan (2018) target of 1,031 residential units per 
year through new build, conversion of change of use. The proposed enlargement 
of the existing basement is also considered to be acceptable in principle when 
assessed against Policy DC11 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 Quality of Accommodation: The proposed development provides an acceptable 

standard of living accommodation, in accordance with Paragraph 123 of the NPPF 
(2019), Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies HO4 and HO11 of the 
Local Plan (2018) which all require residential development to be of the highest 
quality internally. 

  
 Flood risk: The risk of flooding to the new unit has been satisfactorily addressed by 

way of the proposed flood risk mitigation measures, in accordance with Policies 
CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018).  

  

Page 55



 

 Highways: The proposed development has made satisfactory provision for cycle 
storage and refuse storage. Subject to conditions restricting the right of occupants 
to hold parking permits, the development would not contribute to on-street parking 
stress. For these reasons the development complies with Policies T3, T4 and CC7 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 Design and Heritage: The lightwells and external alterations associated with the 

development would be discreetly located to the rear of the building and would not 
be visible from the street, and only minimally visible from neighbouring properties 
and surrounding areas. The character and appearance of the Fitz-George and 
Fitzjames Conservation Area would be preserved, in accordance with Policies 
DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 22nd August 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Thames Water - Development Control 30.08.19 
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 11.09.19 
The Avenue Leaseholders Association 17.09.19 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
27 Cairn Hill Newry BT34 2ST   24.09.19 
27 Cairn Hill Newry BT34 2ST   24.09.19 
17 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   24.09.19 
22 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
17 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
4 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
26 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
27 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   30.09.19 
39A Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   30.09.19 
3B Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   30.09.19 

Page 56



 

1 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY   30.09.19 
33 Fitzgeorge Avenue     30.09.19 
43A Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   05.09.19 
53 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   23.09.19 
NAG     21.09.19 
37 FITZGEORGE AVENUE LONDON W14 0SZ   26.09.19 
64a Fitzgeorge Avenue LONDON W14 0SW   26.09.19 
53 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
25 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   23.09.19 
15a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
54 Fitzjames Avenue London W140RR   26.09.19 
35 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   25.09.19 
58 Fitzgeorge Avenue LONDON W14 0SW   23.09.19 
25 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SY   19.09.19 
67 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SZ   23.09.19 
10 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
9A Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington London W14 0SY  26.09.19 
6, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   26.09.19 
67 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W140SZ   23.09.19 
15 Via Roma Griante (Co) Italia 22011   24.09.19 
26 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   20.09.19 
5B Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
48 Fitzgeorge Ave London W14 0SW   23.09.19 
17 Fitzjames avenue London w14 0rp   25.09.19 
12a Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   27.09.19 
51A Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   21.09.19 
43a Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   26.09.19 
460 Fairview Ave London W14 0SN   24.09.19 
43A Fitzgeorge London W14 0SZ   05.09.19 
31, Fitz-George Avenue, London W14 0SZ   22.09.19 
9 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
33 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ   30.09.19 
36 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SW   24.09.19 
143 NORT END HOUSE London W14 0RZ   10.09.19 
34 Fitzjames Avenue London W11 0RR   25.09.19 
41, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SZ   22.09.19 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
21 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   20.09.19 
13 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   20.09.19 
Fitzjames avenue London w140rp   22.09.19 
39 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR   23.09.19 
18 Fitzgeorge Ave London W14 0SN   21.09.19 
49a Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington W14 0SZ   23.09.19 
3 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   22.09.19 
15 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   29.09.19 
11 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RP   25.09.19 
6, Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   26.09.19 
8 Fitzgeorge Avenue London w14 0sn   25.09.19 
24 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SN   23.09.19 
49a Fitzgeorge Avenue West Kensington W14 0s  23.09.19 
15a Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   26.09.19 
40 Fitzjames Avenue London W14 0RR  20.09.19 

Page 57



 

 
 
OFFICER'S REPORT 
  
1.0 BACKGROUND  
  
1.1 The application relates to a 6-storey mansion block on the southern side of Fitz-
George Avenue (Nos. 49-67).  
 
1.2 The site is located within the Fitz-George and Fitzjames Conservation Area. The 
boundary of the Gunter Estate Conservation Area is to the South and West of the site. 
 
1.3 The site does not contain any statutory or locally listed buildings. 
 
1.4 The site is within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. 
 
1.5 Fitz-George Avenue also benefits from excellent public transport accessibility (PTAL 
rating of 6a according to Transport for London's methodology). 
 
1.6 This application is for the creation of 1no. self-contained one bedroom flat through 
excavation and enlargement of the existing basement and creation of a new lightwell 
and associated installation of new windows and doors; and erection of a bike store. This 
application proposal is known as 'Flat 6'. 
 
1.7 Applications for similar proposals on adjacent parts of the site have also been 
submitted and are being considered alongside this one, as follows: 
 
- Flat 4 (Ref. 2019/02510/FUL) 
- Flat 5 (Ref. 2019/02511/FUL) 
 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
2.1 A series of applications have been previously been submitted for the creation of new 
flats at basement/ lower ground floor level around the Fitz-George and Fitzjames estate.  
 
2.2 In relation to this specific site, an application was refused by the council on 2nd May 
2018 for the same development that is now proposed (Ref. 2018/00682/FUL). It was 
refused on the following grounds: 
 
i) The proposal would provide sub-standard accommodation for its future occupiers in 
terms of its claustrophobic and over-bearing sense of enclosure consequent to its lack 
of outlook. Additionally, due to the extent of enclosure around its window/door openings 
its habitable rooms would suffer from inadequate access to daylight and sunlight. 
 
ii) Due to the proximity of the proposed amenity spaces to residential windows 
overlooking those spaces, and their narrow and enclosed locations which would be 
bounded by the high walls of the current buildings, the proposed development would 
impact unacceptably upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in terms of noise 
and nuisance and loss of privacy to the detriment of the quiet enjoyment of their homes. 
 
iii) The proposal would have a detrimental impact on the efficient operation of the public 
highway. The proposal would result in the loss of an existing parking space, which 

Page 58



 

would have a detrimental impact on local car parking by displacing additional vehicles 
onto an already heavily stressed local highway network. 
 
iv) The site is located within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. The submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) does not contain details of the structural water-proofing 
methods for the basement or confirmation of active drainage devices or a non-return 
valve to be fitted within the basement. 
 
2.3 The applicants subsequently sought to appeal this decision and the appeal was 
dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate (Appeal Ref. 3210767). The Inspector's only 
ground for dismissing the appeal was flood risk. The Inspector did not agree with the 
council's other reasons for refusal and found the proposals to be acceptable in all other 
respects. The Inspector's decision carries significant weight in the determination of this 
application. 
 
3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
3.1 A site notice and press advert were published to advertise the application and 
notification letters were sent to the occupants of surrounding properties.  
 
3.2 A total of 62 individual objection comments were received from the following 
addresses: 
 
-  3, 4, 6, 8, 9, 9a, 12a,13, 15, 15a, 16, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 31, 33, 35, 36, 37, 
41, 43a, 48, 49a, 51a, 53, 58, 64, 67 Fitz-George Avenue 
-  3b, 5b, 10, 11, 17, 21, 26, 27, 34, 39, 40, 43a, 53, 54 Fitzjames Avenue 
-  143 North End House 
-  460 Fairview Avenue, London HA10 
-  15 Via Roma, Griante, Italy 
-  27 Cairn Hill, Newry, Northern Ireland 
 
3.3 Two the 62 responses were received with no address given. 
 
3.4 One of the responses was received from the Chairperson of the Avenue 
Leaseholders Association (ALA). 
 
3.5 The objections can be summarised as follows: 
 
- The space in the car park will be reduced making it difficult for residents to navigate in 
and out of their assigned spaces; 
- Noise, nuisance and parking stress for existing residents during construction; 
- The location of the proposed external amenity spaces will significantly impact those 
living in the flats above; 
- The proposed development is unsuitable in a flood risk area;  
- There are practical construction issues that could prevent the implementation of the 
scheme;  
- The structure of the building may be compromised. 
 
3.6 Case Officer response: The material planning matters raised above will be 
addressed in the report below. Concerns regarding the impact of the development on 
party walls, or the structure of adjacent flats, may be properly addressed by means of 
an agreement under the Party Wall Act 1996 and are not material to the planning 

Page 59



 

process, however, residents' concerns are noted. Similarly, questions over the 
practicalities of implementing the scheme are not a matter to be considered as part of 
the planning application. 
 
3.7 Case Officer response: The material planning matters raised above will be 
addressed in the report below. Concerns regarding the impact of the development on 
party walls or the structure of adjacent flats may be properly addressed by means of an 
agreement under the Party Wall Act 1996 and are not material to the planning process, 
however residents' concerns are noted. Similarly questions over the practicalities of 
implementing the scheme are not a matter to be considered as part of the planning 
application. 
  
3.8 External consultation responses were as follows: 
 
Thames Water -  No objection with regards to sewerage or water infrastructure capacity. 
  
Environment Agency - No objection, an informative is suggested about foul drainage. 
 
The Metropolitan Police's Crime Prevention Design Advisor was also consulted but did 
not respond. 
 
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
4.1 The main planning issues that must be assessed in considering this proposal are: 
  
- The principle of a new residential unit in this location; 
- The acceptability of the proposed basement development in terms of scale and impact 
on the local, natural and historic environment, and flood risk; 
- The quality of the proposed residential unit in terms of floor area, light, outlook, 
access, floor to ceiling height, amenity space, and refuse storage; 
- Highways matters including car parking and cycle parking. 
  
4.2 The development will be assessed in accordance with the policies and standards 
set out within the London Plan (2016), and the council's Local Plan (2018) and Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). The recent appeal decision 
(Appeal Ref. 3210767) in relation to this unit also carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. The Inspector's conclusions are discussed below. 
  
PRINCIPLE OF NEW RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
  
4.3 The borough has a target of 1,031 new residential units per year to be achieved 
through new build, conversion or change of use, as set by the London Plan (2016) and 
Local Plan (2018) Policy HO1. The unit would make a small positive contribution to the 
quantity of the borough's housing stock. 
  
ACCEPTABILITY OF BASEMENT DEVELOPMENT 
  
4.4 The proposal would involve excavating underneath part of the mansion block. A 
lightwell of approximately 8sq.m. would be excavated to provide light and amenity 
space for the flat. Save for the new lightwell, excavation would be contained underneath 
the footprint of the existing building, in accordance with Criterion a) of Local Plan (2018) 
Policy DC11. 

Page 60



 

  
4.5 There are no trees in the immediate vicinity of the site which stand to be affected 
through the proposed excavation underneath the building. The proposed lightwell would 
be mostly concealed from views from the service road to the rear of the building by the 
bulk and form of the existing mansion block, and the public street scene on Fitz-George 
Avenue would not be impacted in any way. For these reasons, Officers are satisfied that 
the character and appearance of the Fitz-George and Fitz-James Conservation Area 
would be preserved in accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policy DC8, and there would 
be no adverse impact on the natural and historic environment, in accordance with 
Criterion e) of Policy DC11.  
 
4.6 Criterion e) of Policy DC11 also states that new basement accommodation will only 
be permitted where there is no adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining properties 
(Policies HO11 and DC4 also concern the protection of existing residential amenities). 
In this case, the main issue is noise. Internally, the new flat has the potential to create 
noise disturbance to habitable rooms within the ground floor flat directly above. To 
address this, a condition is recommended regarding enhanced sound insulation to be 
installed within the ceiling structure separating the new and existing flats to ensure that 
noise disturbance did not occur from the activities inside the flat. 
 
4.7 In respect of noise from the proposed external amenity space, Officers had 
previously raised concerns about the proximity of the new lightwell to existing habitable 
room windows to flats immediately above. This was given as a reason for refusing the 
previous application (Ref. 2018/00682/FUL). 
 
4.8 The Inspector for the appeal noted the council's concerns but said that: 
 
"The large mansion block has extensive areas of communal open space that seem, to 
me, capable of hosting organised social events. I observed evidence of smoking having 
taken place at the rear of the block where there are views into ground floor windows. 
The proposed lightwell is not a big area only about 2m wide thus restricting the level of 
use. Sound can reverberate resulting in noise fading slower. However, the proposed 
development would not involve any commercial activity and the outside space afforded 
to the unit would be of a similar scale to that which exists. I am therefore satisfied that, 
taking into account the high-density urban environment the appeal site is located in, the 
proposed development would not materially alter the existing situation in terms of how 
neighbours will be affected" (para. 11 of the decision notice) 
 
4.9 For these reasons, the Inspector was satisfied that the development complies with 
Policies DC4, DC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018). Given the significant weight of 
the Inspector's decision with regards to this matter, no further objections are 
recommended to be raised on these grounds. 
 
4.10 With regards to the short-term impact of construction, a condition is recommended 
for a Construction Management Plan to be agreed, to ensure the amenities of residents 
are protected as far as possible throughout the construction phase, in accordance with 
Policy CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
  
QUALITY OF THE NEW RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
 
4.11 The Council expects all new residential units to be of high quality with regards to 
the considerations set out in Local Plan Policy HO11. Key Principle HS3 of the Planning 

Page 61



 

Guidance SPD is also relevant with regards to internal space provision in residential 
conversions. 
  
4.12 The proposed one-bedroom flat would have a Gross Internal Area of 50.3 sq.m, 
which would be in accordance with the London Plan (2016) requirements and the 
DCLG's Technical Housing Standards - Nationally Described Space Standard (2015). 
The double bedroom would be 12.3 sq.m, which is also in accordance with the 
Technical Housing Standards. The submitted section shows that the floor-to-ceiling 
height would be a uniform 2.3m throughout the flat, which is considered to be 
satisfactory. 
  
4.13 The proposed flat would be located entirely below ground floor level with a single 
lightwell of approximately 8sq.m. forming the only source of natural light. This lightwell 
would also provide private amenity space for the occupants. 
 
4.14 In respect of light and outlook to the new unit, Officers previously raised concerns 
that it's outlook would be poor. Although the lightwell would be open to the sky with no 
obstructions, it would be enclosed on three sides by the elevations of the existing 
building as well as by the railings that would be necessary to surround the lightwell. 
Although a Daylight and Sunlight Report was submitted in support of the application that 
showed the internal light levels would be within acceptable limits, Officers had 
significant concerns about the robustness of that assessment. This was given as a 
reason for refusing the previous application. 
 
4.15 In dismissing this reason, the Inspector said that: 
 
"The size of the proposed flat would meet the minimum space standards for a 2-
bedroom, 1-bedroom unit. The double bedroom would satisfy the national standard and 
be of an appropriate size for this type of flat. Residents in this large mansion block 
share communal outdoor amenity space, as there are few balconies. Much of this space 
fronts the street. The proposed development would include private outside amenity 
space within a lightwell, accessed directly through living room French windows and 
bedroom doors. There would also be stairs up to the communal areas in addition to the 
principal access/ egress into the shared stairwell. I consider none of this would result in 
either cramped conditions or a sense of confinement (para. 8)...I observed from my site 
visit that the basement is artificially lit. The proposal would introduce lightwells and 
windows/ doors allowing light to reach new rooms in the proposed flat and that 
calculations demonstrate that satisfactory standards can be met. The outlook from 
windows/ doors would be onto amenity areas which is not uncommon for this type of 
development" (para. 18). 
 
4.16 On this basis, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would comply with 
Paragraph 123 of the NPPF, Policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies HO4 
and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018) which all require residential development to be of 
the highest quality internally. Given the decisive weight of the Inspector's decision with 
regards to this matter, no further objections are recommended to be raised on these 
grounds. 
 
4.17 The drawings indicate that access to the new unit would be via external steps into 
the lightwell which lead directly into either the main bedroom or the living/dining area 
through two sets of French doors. There is also an internal entrance, through a 
downward extension of the existing stair core and lift shaft from ground to basement 

Page 62



 

level. Officers previously raised concerns about the feasibility and convenience of this 
arrangement, but it was not included as a reason for refusal as it was not considered to 
be a planning matter. On this issue, the Inspector said "Residents have raised concerns 
about the technical feasibility of the proposal including the possible effects on the 
foundations. These are matters for consideration by the building control authority on 
receipt of notification or full plans" (para. 17). 
 
FLOOD RISK 
  
4.18 The site is located within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2. The previous 
application was objected to by Officers on the grounds that the original Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) did not contain details of the structural water-proofing methods for 
the basement or confirmation of active drainage devices or a non-return valve to be 
fitted within the basement, necessary to protect the new unit from groundwater and 
sewer surcharge flooding. The Inspector also noted that the submitted FRA related only 
to the northern side of the street and therefore was not specifically relevant to the 
appeal site. 
 
4.19 Officers are satisfied that both of these concerns have been addressed within the 
revised documents submitted with the current application. An updated Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) has been submitted which relates to the specific application site. 
Further, a Groundwater Impact Assessment has also been submitted which confirms 
details of structural water-proofing methods for the basement including an active 
drainage device and a non-return valve to be fitted within the basement.  
 
4.20 As such, it is considered that the council's previous reason for refusal and the 
issues raised by the Inspector have been satisfactorily addressed and the proposal is 
now in compliance with Policies CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). An informative 
has been attached with regards to sustainable drainage systems, as it is considered 
that there is there is only limited opportunities for small-scale SuDS as part of this 
development. 
 
REFUSE STORAGE 
 
4.21 It is suggested that the existing waste management procedure, where estate staff 
collect refuse from outside front doors six times a week and take it to the communal 
bins to the rear of the blocks on the northern side of the road, would also be applied to 
the new units. The paladins are then collected by LBHF twice weekly. This arrangement 
is considered to be acceptable and, following Officers' inspection of the situation on site 
prior to collection day, it was clear that there would be capacity for the additional refuse 
generated by this proposal (in addition to that generated by the other proposals for Flats 
4 and 5). For these reasons no objections are recommended to be raised in terms of 
Local Plan (2018) Policy CC7. 
  
CAR PARKING 
 
4.22 Local Plan (2018) Policy T4 sets maximum parking standards in relation to 
residential development and states that all residential developments in areas with good 
transport accessibility should aim for significantly less than 1 space per unit. The site 
benefits from a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a, which is excellent, 
and is in close proximity to West Kensington and Barons Court Underground stations, 
and Kensington (Olympia) Overground station in addition to a number of bus stops on 

Page 63



 

North End Road. The application does not propose any additional parking spaces, and 
in order to promote sustainable transport and prevent an increase in parking stress in 
accordance with Policy T4, conditions are recommended to ensure that occupants 
would not be eligible to hold street parking permits. 
 
4.23 The creation of the proposed lightwell would result in the loss of an existing parking 
space which is marked out within the existing courtyard area. No information is provided 
about who owns this space, but it was occupied at the time of an Officer site visit in April 
2018. Officers raised concerns about this as part of the previous application, and it was 
included as a reason for refusing the previous application. On this matter, the Inspector 
stated: 
 
"The existing parking space, that would be lost, is located in a small gap between two 
building walls and was not occupied at the time of my inspection. It was not clear to me 
that if the space was allocated or for general use. Fitz-George Avenue is accessible by 
public transport, and with a PTAL rating of 6a, it would therefore not be unacceptable in 
my view for the appeal scheme to provide no off-street parking." (Para. 14). 
 
4.24 Given the significant weight of the Inspector's decision with regards to this matter, 
no further objections are recommended to be raised in terms of Policy T4 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
CYCLE PARKING 
 
4.25 A new freestanding, covered cycle store with space for three cycles is proposed to 
be erected adjacent to the flank wall of the mansion block at ground floor level, to the 
South of the new lightwell. This new store would be sufficient to meet the requirements 
of Policy T3 and Appendix 8 of the Local Plan (2018). A condition is recommended 
requiring the cycle store to be implemented prior to the occupation of the new unit. 
 
CUMULATIVE IMPACT 
 
4.26 Officers previously raised concerns about the cumulative impact of the three 
basement proposals (for Flats 4, 5 and 6) and consider that they should be considered 
in conjunction with one another even though separate applications have been 
submitted. On this matter, the Inspector stated that "I am aware that there are other 
proposals for basement development within this residential complex and the council 
asks that the cumulative impact be considered. Residents have also expressed concern 
about setting a precedent. However, this proposal must be assessed on its own merits 
and it has." (Para. 16.) 
 
5.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 On balance, in light of the above, Officers recommend that planning permission be 
granted for this development. 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  College Park And Old Oak 
 

Site Address: 
168A Du Cane Road  London  W12 0TX     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/02035/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
05.07.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
03.12.2019 

Case Officer: 
Elliot Brown 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



 

 
Applicant: 
Mr Henry Fraser 
Urban Space Management Trinity Buoy Wharf 64 Orchard Place London 
E14 0JW 
 
Description: 
Erection of a 2 storey temporary building for use as Arts and Criminal Justice hub 
comprising of art gallery and offices (for a period of 10 years). 
Drg Nos: USM KTP 004 REV B; USM KTP 015 REV A;USM KTP 021 REV A; USM 
KTP 022 REV A; USM KTP 023. Daylight and Sunlight Assessment 
(27.06.2019);Energy and Sustainability Statement (28.06.2019). 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 1) The two-storey building and associated facilities hereby permitted shall be used for 

a limited period of 10 years from the date of the decision, after which the 
temporary two-storey building and associated facilities shall be removed from the 
site and the site shall be restored to its former condition.  

  
 In granting this permission, the Council is not prepared to approve this type of 

development other than for a limited period, in view of its nature, design and 
appearance and having regard to the amenities of neighbouring properties, in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC2, DC8 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018).  

 
 2) The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the 

following drawings hereby approved: 
   
 USM KTP 004 REV B; USM KTP 015 REV A; USM KTP 021 REV A; USM KTP 

022 REV A; USM KTP 023. 
   
 In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to ensure that there is 

no harm to the residential amenities of neighbouring properties, in accordance with 
Policies DC1, DC2, DC8 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 3) Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved, detailed plan, section and 

elevation drawings (at a scale of 1:20) and material samples of all external hard 
surfacing, paving, ramp and railings shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Council prior to commencement of works. 

  

Page 66



 

 In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies 
DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 4) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a Construction 

Logistics Plan have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The 
details shall include control measures for delivery locations, numbers, size and 
routing of construction vehicles and other matters relating to traffic management to 
be agreed. All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plan.  

     
 To ensure no unacceptable adverse effect on the amenities of surrounding 

occupiers and highways, in accordance with policy T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 5) The premises shall be used for office space and an art gallery and for no other 

purpose (including any other purposes within Class D2 of the Schedule to the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Class) Order 1987, or any provision equivalent 
to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with 
or without modification).    

   
 In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the special 

circumstances of the case. Certain other uses within the same use class would be 
unacceptable due to effect on residential amenity and traffic generation, in 
accordance with Policies CC11, HO11 and T1 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 6) Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved, detailed plan, section and 

elevation drawings (at a scale of 1:20) of a typical bay (including details of 
panelling, entrances, canopies and brise soleil) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Council prior to commencement of works.  

  
 In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies 

DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 7) Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved, details (including samples) of all 

external materials to be used in the development (including panelling, glazing, 
framing, canopies and brise soleil, external access ramp and roofing material) 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council prior to 
commencement of works.  

  
 In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies 

DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 8) No advertisements shall be displayed on either the external faces of the 

development and/or inside any windows, without full details of the advertisements 
having first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and to preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC2, DC8 and DC9 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 9) Prior to the occupation of the temporary building hereby approved, further details 

of the materials and design of the refuse and recycling storage enclosure shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council. The development shall only 
be carried out with the details approved.  

Page 67



 

   
 In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in accordance with Policies DC1, 

DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
10) Prior to the commencement of the landscaping works, full details of the soft 

landscaping scheme for the site including detailed drawings in plan section and 
elevation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
Authority. The soft landscape details shall include the following details: 

 o A planting schedule and details of all species to be planted on site 
 o Details of the height and maturity of all new trees and shrubs 
 o Details of any plant containers or raised shrub beds 
  
 In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and enhance the provision of 

green infrastructure within the borough, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2, 
DC8 and OS5 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
11) Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved, detailed drawings of the proposed 

solar PV to the roof of the temporary building (at a scale of 1:20) shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council prior to its installation.  

   
 In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies 

DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018).   
 
12) The temporary building hereby permitted shall not be used or occupied until a 

Service and Delivery Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Council. The plan shall specify the number of weekly deliveries and 
size of vehicles to be used, as well as the times for deliveries. The development 
shall only be used in accordance with the details approved in the Service 
Management Plan. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for servicing and to prevent noise and disturbance 

to neighbouring residents, in accordance with policies CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
13) Prior to commencement of above ground works in the development, a Ventilation 

Strategy Report to mitigate the impact of air pollution shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Council. The report shall include the following 
information: 

  
 a) Details and locations of the air ventilation intake locations at rear roof level 
  
 b) Details of non-openable windows on front elevations with Du Cane Road 
  
 c) Details and locations of ventilation extracts, chimney/gas boiler flues, to 

demonstrate that they are located a minimum of 2 metres away from the air 
ventilation intakes, openable windows, terraces 

  
 d) Details of the independently tested mechanical ventilation system with 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter (PM2.5, PM10) filtration to remove 
airborne pollutants. The filtration system shall have a minimum efficiency of 75% in 
the removal of Nitrogen Oxides/Dioxides, Particulate Matter (PM2.5, PM10) in 
accordance with BS EN ISO 10121-1:2014 and BS EN ISO 16890:2016. 

Page 68



 

  
 The whole system shall be designed to prevent summer overheating and minimise 

energy usage. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken 
regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications and shall be the 
responsibility of the primary owner of the property. Approved details shall be fully 
implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To prevent future users of the building being exposed to potential adverse air 

quality impacts, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
14) Prior to occupation of the development, details of a post installation report of the 

approved ventilation strategy to mitigate the impact of air pollution shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Approved 
details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development 
and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To prevent future users of the building being exposed to potential adverse air 

quality impacts, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
15) The access ramp hereby approved to the southern elevation of the temporary 

building shall not exceed a gradient of 1:20 and shall be installed prior to 
occupation of the building. The southern elevation entrance door shall not be less 
than 800mm wide.  

   
 In order to ensure adequate access for people with disabilities or mobility 

difficulties, in accordance with Key Principles DA6 and DA7 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

 
16) The disabled toilets within the ground and first-floor shall have an internal floor 

area of 2200mm x 2000mm, and the entrance door shall not be less than 800mm 
wide.  

  
 In order to ensure adequate access for people with disabilities or mobility 

difficulties, in accordance with Key Principles DA6 and DA7 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

  
17) The internal lift serving ground and first-floor shall have an internal floor area of 

2200mm x 1900mm, and the entrance door shall not be less than 800mm wide. 
  
 In order to ensure adequate access for people with disabilities or mobility 

difficulties, in accordance with Key Principles DA6 and DA7 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

 
18) The off-street disabled/blue badge parking space hereby approved shall be 2.4m 

in width and 4.8m in length, with a zone 1.2m wide provided around the 
designated space.    

   
 In order to provide sufficient disabled/blue badge parking provision, in accordance 

with  Key Principle TR6 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018).  

 

Page 69



 

19) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted an Ultra Low Emission 
Strategy (ULES) for the operational phase of the development in order to mitigate 
the impact of air pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Ultra Low Emission Strategy must detail the 
remedial action and mitigation measures that will be implemented to protect 
receptors (e.g. design solutions). This Strategy must make a commitment to 
implement the mitigation measures that are required to reduce the exposure of 
poor air quality and to help mitigate the development's air pollution impacts, in 
particular the emissions of NOx and particulates from on-road vehicle transport by 
the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles in accordance with 
the emissions hierarchy (1) Cargo bike (2) Electric Vehicle, (3) Hybrid (non-plug in) 
Electric Vehicle (HEV), (4) Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle (PHEV), (5) Alternative 
Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG. A monitoring report of the implementation of the ULES shall 
be submitted on annual basis to the LPA. Approved details shall be fully 
implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To prevent future users of the building being exposed to potential adverse air 

quality impacts, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
20) Prior to occupation of the development, details of the installation of the Air Source 

Heat Pump and Electric Boilers to be provided for space heating and hot water 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To prevent future users of the building being exposed to potential adverse air 

quality impacts, in accordance with Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
21) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until the submission of a 

final Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS), including a maintenance programme 
for all sustainable drainage systems (including timeframes for the planned 
maintenance measures and confirmation of the maintenance provider), that 
provides comprehensive details of the sustainable drainage measures, including 
green and brown roofs, rainwater harvesting and permeable paving to be 
implemented on site including details of their attenuation capabilities, have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council.  The SuDS scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the 
development hereby permitted, and thereafter be permanently retained and 
maintained in line with the agreed plan. 

  
 To ensure that surface water run-off is managed in a sustainable manner, in 

accordance with policy 5.13 of The London Plan (2016) and Policy CC4 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
22) The proposed bicycle storage hereby approved shall be installed in accordance 

with approved drawing USM KTP 004 REV B prior to the occupation of the 
temporary building hereby permitted and shall thereafter be retained for the 
duration of the building's lifetime.   

   
 In order to encourage and support the increased use of bicycles facilities, in 

accordance with Policy T3 of the Local Plan (2018). 

Page 70



 

 
23) Prior to the commencement of demolition works: 
 i) Details, including a method statement, for the temporary alterations proposed 

to the brick boundary wall and front boundary railings and details of the remedial 
works required to the retained elements of the brick boundary wall and front 
boundary railings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 

 ii) Details, including a method statement, for the salvage and secure storage of 
the removed sections of brick boundary wall and front boundary railings shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 

  
 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 

and the salvaged items shall thereafter be permanently retained in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 
24) Prior to the reinstatement of the brick boundary wall and railings, details including 

a method statement and detailed drawings at a scale of 1:20 in plan, section and 
elevation for the reinstatement of the brick boundary wall and front boundary 
railings to match the existing, including brick bond, pointing style and mortar 
colour, shall be submitted to the Council.  A brick sample panel shall be 
constructed onsite for the inspection of the Council's Conservation Officer and the 
Council's written approval.   

  
 Within three months of the cessation of the temporary use hereby permitted the 

brick boundary wall and front boundary railing shall be reinstated in accordance 
with the approved brick sample panel and such details as have been approved. 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) 1)  Land use: The proposed usage of the temporary building (as office space and 

the display/storage of art) would remain unaltered from the existing usage at 
No.168 Du Cane Road. As such, the usage of the temporary building would be 
considered compatible with that of the surrounding area.  

   
 2)  Visual amenity: The proposal would be of a scale, massing and design which 

would ensure a satisfactory visual appearance, and would preserve the setting of 
the surrounding designated heritage assets. In this respect, the proposal would be 
consistent with Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act, the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies 
DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key Principles AH1, AH2 and 
BM2 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018).  

   
 3)  Surrounding amenity: The proposal would not cause any detrimental harm to 

the amenities of any neighbouring properties in terms of loss of light, outlook, 
privacy or noise and disturbance, and therefore the proposal complies with 
Policies CC11, CC13, D2 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018).  

   
 4)  Inclusive design: The proposal would incorporate inclusive design features to 

ensure ease of access to the building from the southern elevation entrance and 
the provision of facilities within the building (disabled W/Cs and lifts).  

   
 5) Highways: It is considered that the development would have an acceptable 

impact upon the highway, in accordance with Policy T1 of the Local Plan 2018).  

Page 71



 

   
 6)  Flood Risk: It is considered that the development would have an acceptable 

impact upon the application site's flood risk, in accordance with Policy CC3 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

  
 7) Sustainability: It is considered that the development utilising a prefabricated 

structure would  achieve sustainable design objectives in accordance with NPPF 
(2018) chapter 14 'Meeting the challenge of climate change...', policies CC2, DC1 
and DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) and policy 5.3 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 4th July 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND  
  
1.1 The application site specifically relates to a plot of land between Nos.154 and 168 
Du Cane Road (Former Warders Home). No.168 is currently occupied by the Koestler 
Trust, a prison arts charity. This is a three-storey property and is designated as a 
Building of Merit, sited within the site boundary of Wormwood Scrubs Prison. Its location 
to the south of the prison wall results in the building fronting Du Cane Road (behind a 
tall boundary wall).The plot of land originally formed part of the garden space to the 
Former Warder's Home. 
  
1.2     The Central Line underground railway line is located to the south of the site, and 
forms a strong barrier between the application site and the Old Oak and Wormholt 
Conservation Area to the south of the site. This railway embankment is a designated 
nature conservation area. 
  
1.3 The application site does not lie within a Conservation Area, however, it is noted 
that there are a number of heritage assets in close proximity including: 
  

Page 72



 

-HMP Wormwood Scrubs Gatehouse (Grade II* listed) - 30m away. 
-HMP Wormwood Scrubs Chapel and its setting (Grade II* listed) - 60m away (inside 
prison walls). 
-HMP Wormwood Scrubs Cell Blocks and their setting (Grade II listed) - 70m away 
within prison walls) 
-The Former Warder's Homes (Nos.156-164, 166, 168 and 174-180 Du Cane Road), 
which are designated as Buildings of Merit. 
-The Old Oak and Wormholt Conservation Area is located to the south and west of the 
application site. (some 70-110m away) 
 
1.4 The application site lies within the Environment Agency's Flood Risk Zone 1. 
  
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
  
1.5      There is no relevant planning history relating to the current application site. 
  
1.6 The current planning application seeks permission for the erection of a two-storey 
temporary building (580sqm) on a plot of land between Nos.154 (Visitors Centre) and 
168 Du Cane Road, for use as an Arts and Criminal Justice hub comprising of an art 
gallery and office space for use by Koestler Trust. 
  
1.7 The ground-floor would consist of art gallery space to store and display artwork, 
whilst the first-floor would consist of office space. 
 
1.8 The applicants have stated that they are a prison arts charity. They encourage 
people in the criminal justice system to change their lives by participating in the arts. 
They share their artworks with the public, so people can witness this diverse range of 
voices, stories and talent. They have also confirmed that their main funder (Arts Council 
England) require a 10 year commitment as a condition of the grant. This is common 
amongst other charitable funders.  
  
1.9 The charity aims to: 
o Help offenders, secure patients and detainees lead more positive lives by 
motivating them to participate and achieve in the arts. 
o Increase public awareness and understanding of arts by people in the criminal 
justice system.  
o We inspire participation in the arts in the criminal justice system through Awards 
and Feedback, Mentoring, Sales, Exhibitions and Events. We increase public 
awareness of the potential of people in the criminal justice system through Exhibitions 
and Events, Publications and contributing to research. 
o Our small team is based just outside HM Prison Wormwood Scrubs in west 
London. 
o We work across the UK's criminal justice and secure systems. Including custodial 
settings (prisons, young offenders institutions, medium and high secure hospitals, 
secure children's homes and immigration centres), and people in the community (on 
probation, engaged with youth offending teams, and on community sentences). 
o The current accommodation is in poor condition and is not suitable for the works 
undertaken. Furthermore, uncertainty regarding Wormwood Scrubs prison in the future 
means that spending funds to renovate and alter the current premises is not considered 
feasible, whereas the current proposal would create a demountable building that can be 
easily dismantled and relocated to a new site in the future. 
  

Page 73



 

  
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS  
  
2.1 The application was publicised by means of a site notice and a press 
advertisement, together with letters of notification to neighbouring properties.  
  
2.2 No representations have been received.  
  
 External consultee responses 
  
2.3      H&F Disability Forum - No objection, subject to all inclusive access features 
specified in the design and access statement being evident on the submitted drawings. 
Accessible W/Cs and lifts should be compliant with the relevant regulations.  
  
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  
  
3.1 The development will be assessed in accordance with the policies and standards 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019); the London 
Plan (2016); and the council's Local Plan (2018) and Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). Of these, the following policies are particularly relevant: 
  
 London Plan (2016, as amended) 
  
 Policy 7.2 - An Inclusive Environment 
 Policy 7.4 - Local Character 
 Policy 7.8 - Heritage Assets and Archaeology 
  
 H&F Local Plan (2018) 
  
         CC2 - Ensuring Sustainable Design and Construction 
 
 CC3 - Minimising Flood Risk and Reducing Water Use 
  
 CC11 - Noise 
  
 DC1 - Built Environment 
  
 DC2 - Design of New Build 
  
 DC8 - Heritage and Conservation 
  
 HO11 - Detailed Residential Standards 
  
 T1 - Transport 
  
 T3 - Increasing and Promoting Opportunities for Cycling and Walking 
  
 T4 - Vehicle Parking Standards 
  
 T5 - Parking for Blue Badge Holders 
  

Page 74



 

 H&F Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018) Key 
Principles: 
 
        AH1 - Information requirements for applications for consent affecting heritage           
assets 
 
        AH2 - Protection of heritage assets.  
  
 BM2 - Proposals affecting Buildings of Merit 
  
 DA1 - Inclusive Design 
  
 DA6 - Entry into a Building 
  
 DA7 - Access to Facilities Inside a Building 
  
 FR1 - Submission of a Flood Risk Assessment 
  
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
4.1 The main planning considerations in this case are: 
  
-The compatibility of the proposed land use with the surrounding area 
  
-The proposal's design and impact upon the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area (including designated heritage assets) 
  
-The proposal's impact upon the amenity of occupants and users of the surrounding 
buildings 
  
-Accessible/inclusive design 
  
-The proposal's impact upon highways and parking 
  
-The proposal's impact upon flood risk  
  
+Land Use 
  
4.2      The use of the proposed temporary building (as office space and the 
display/storage of art) would be the same as the use at No.168 Du Cane Road. As 
such, the proposal is not introducing a new use to the area and accordingly is 
considered compatible with the surrounding area. 
  
+Design and impact upon character and appearance of surrounding area 
  
4.3 Paragraph 124 of the National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF] (2019) specifies 
that the creation of high-quality buildings is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve.  
  
4.4 In accordance with this principle, Policies DC1 and DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) 
specify that new development should be of a high standard of design to create a high-
quality urban environment that respects and enhances the scale and character of 

Page 75



 

existing development and its setting. Specifically, this will be tested by taking into 
account the following: 
  
-The historical context and townscape of the site, and its sense of place 
-The scale, mass, form and grain of surrounding development and connections to it 
-The relationship of the proposed development to the existing townscape 
-The local design context 
-Good neighbourliness and the principles of residential amenity 
-The local landscape context 
-Sustainability objectives 
-The principles of accessible design 
-Principles of secured by design 
  
4.5      When considering any planning application that affects a designated heritage 
asset (including a Conservation Area, Listed Building and locally listed Building of 
Merit), Paragraph 192 of the NPPF (2019) specifies that great weight should be given to 
the asset's conservation; irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  
  
4.6 In accordance with this principle, Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016, as 
amended) and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) specify that development affecting heritage 
assets and their settings should only be permitted if the significance of the heritage 
asset is conserved. Particular consideration will be given to the scale, height, materials 
and architectural detail of any proposed development. 
  
4.7      The Chapel (Grade II* listed), the Gatehouse (Grade II* listed) and the prison cell 
blocks (Grade II listed) are considered to be of architectural and historic 
significance/importance, and therefore it is essential that the proposal preserves the 
character and appearance of these heritage assets. The submitted drawings and site 
photography highlight that the application site would be situated to the south of the 
Wormwood Scrub prison wall, whilst the Prison Officers Club building and No.168 Du 
Cane Road would screen the proposal site from the Gatehouse. Accordingly, Officers 
consider that the screening of the proposed temporary buildings provided by the 
existing prison wall and surrounding buildings would contribute towards the preservation 
of these heritage assets.  
  
4.8      The proposal site occupies a gap within the Du Cane Road frontage of the 
Wormwood Scrubs estate, and is resultantly aligned with The Former Warder's Homes 
(Nos.156-164, 166, 168 and 174-180 Du Cane Road), which are locally listed Buildings 
of Merit; predominantly three-stories in height. Their age, character, materials, scale 
and detailing ensure a high-quality and consistent frontage to Du Cane Road, and 
would form the immediate context of the proposed building. The Du Cane Road 
frontage is also given definition by the existing brick wall and railings which have 
traditionally marked the perimeter of the estate and boundary of the public realm.  
 
4.9     Despite the predominant three storey height on the Du Cane Road frontage, and 
the historic break in the frontage between the Warders houses, the open space 
between No.s 174 and 168 has recently been developed to provide a visitor centre for 
the prison (No.154). The Visitors centre is a tall single storey pavilion building which sits 
immediately behind the existing brick wall, and rises above it so that it is clearly visible 
from the street. Unlike the Visitors centre, the proposal will assume a more prominent 
position in the street scene, as the removal of the boundary wall will enable the full front 

Page 76



 

elevation to be expressed. Despite the proposal being taller than the Visitors centre, 
Officers consider that it will maintain some degree of subservience to the main building 
of No.168 and remains broadly consistent in scale with its out rigger which is clearly 
visible from the street. Therefore, Officers consider that the two storey temporary 
building would have an acceptable impact of the character and appearance of the 
locality.   
  
4.10     The north elevation of the proposed building would be screened from the street 
by No.168 Du Cane Road and the Prison Officers Club building. The side (east and 
west) elevations would not be particularly visible from the street due to their proximity to 
the side elevations of the adjoining properties (Nos.154 and 168 Du Cane Road). The 
existing southern boundary brick wall would be removed as part of the proposal, and 
accordingly, with regard to the design of the proposed temporary building, it is the south 
facing elevation that is particularly important, given that the ground and first-floor of this 
elevation would be readily visible from the street. Whilst acknowledged that the loss of 
the existing southern boundary brick wall would temporarily alter the traditional estate 
boundary, Officers consider that the proposals visually open and interactive ground-
floor, made up of clear glazed bays which will display the trusts artwork, would offer a 
more active and engaging frontage to Du Cane Road. This would be considered to 
result in improvements to pedestrian streetscene and the public realm. Furthermore, 
Officers recommend a condition be attached requiring the salvage and storage of the 
existing brickwork, so that this can be re-implemented once the temporary use ceases; 
mitigating against any detrimental long-term harm.  
 
4.11 Paragraph 6.03 of the submitted design and access statement highlights that the 
proposed temporary building would be constructed out of re-used corrugated Corten 
steel shipping containers, which would be finished in 'silver marine' paint. Meanwhile, 
annotations on the proposed elevation drawing (USM KTP 015 REV A) depict that the 
frames of the clear-glazing to the southern elevation would be aluminium, with a powder 
coated dark grey finish. To control and maximise the design quality of the proposal and 
its contribution to its setting, Officers recommend that conditions for further details of 
window bays, brise soleil, landscape and signage strategies are attached to any 
planning consent. 
 
4.12 Officers recognise that the proposed materials and finishes would result in a more 
modern appearance in relation to those buildings within the existing townscape, 
nevertheless, by reason of its temporary life-span, this would not be considered to result 
in detrimental long-term harm to the character and appearance of the application site or 
the surrounding area (including designated heritage assets). Furthermore, Officers 
recommend that a condition be attached requiring the submission of details of the 
proposed refuse enclosure prior to their on-site installation.   
  
4.13     For the reasons outlined above, it is considered that the proposal would 
preserve the character and appearance of the designated heritage assets within the 
surrounding area, and would therefore comply with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, Section 12 and 15 of the NPPF (2019), Policies 
7.4 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016, as amended), Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the 
Local Plan (2018) and Key Principles BM2, CAG2 and CAG3 of the Planning Guidance 
SPD (2018).  
  
+Impact upon neighbouring amenity 
  

Page 77



 

4.14      Policies DC2 and HO11 of the Local Plan (2018) both reference the impact of 
new development on the existing amenities of neighbouring properties. Whilst 
acknowledged that Policy HO11 typically provides guidance on protecting the amenity 
of neighbouring residential occupants, the principle considerations of outlook, privacy, 
daylight/sunlight and a sense of enclosure are still be considered to be applicable 
considerations to the current application.  
  
4.15      Policy CC11 of the Local Plan (2018) specifies that noise generating 
development will not be permitted if it would materially increase the noise experienced 
by occupants/users of existing or proposed uses within the vicinity. 
  
4.16     Officers note that the impact upon the amenity of No.168 Du Cane Road is of 
particular importance, because the proposal would need to demonstrate that it would 
not prevent an alternative use coming forward once the Koestler Trust vacates this 
building.  
  
4.17      The siting of the proposed two-storey building would place its eastern elevation 
in close proximity to three ground-floor windows serving the ground-floor element of 
No.168's existing ground and first-floor extension. Nevertheless, the site visit highlighted 
that the ground-floor element of this extension is treble aspect (with windows also 
situated within the extensions north, south and western elevation). Officers consider that 
this would mitigate against unduly detrimental harm to the outlook of future occupants of 
this room.  
  
4.18     With regard to the proposal's impact upon light, a daylight and sunlight 
assessment (27.06.2019) prepared by 'Keeping Blue Ltd' has been submitted as part of 
the current application. The document indicates that No.168 Du Cane Road would 
achieve levels of daylight and sunlight that would be in accordance with BRE guidance. 
Furthermore, Officers note that the proposal would sit below a line of 25-degrees drawn 
from the mid-point of those first-floor windows within the western elevation of No.168 Du 
Cane Road's main flank wall and the first-floor element of the existing ground and first-
floor extension. Accordingly, this would be considered to mitigate against unduly 
detrimental harm to the levels of light received to any future occupants of these rooms. 
  
4.19     Officers note that no windows are proposed to the flank elevation facing No.168 
Du Cane Road, which would be considered to ensure a satisfactory level of privacy for 
any future occupants of No.168 Du Cane Road.  
  
4.20     Accordingly, Officers consider that the proposal would not prevent an alternative 
use coming forward for 168 Du Cane Road once the Koestler Trust vacates this 
building. 
  
4.21     The site visit revealed that the proposed two-storey building would have its 
western elevation in close proximity to the adjoining No.154 Du Cane Road; which 
currently accommodates the Wormwood Scrubs Visitors Centre. The applicants' 
daylight and sunlight assessment highlights that those high-level windows within the 
eastern elevation of No.154 serve a mixture of offices, flexible use rooms and W/Cs. 
Given the usage of this building and that these rooms would only be occupied for 
relatively short periods of time, Officers consider that on balance the proposal would 
result in an acceptable impact upon the amenity of visitors to No.154 Du Cane Road.  
  

Page 78



 

4.22     Officers consider that the existing prison wall to the rear (north) of the proposal 
site would provide a screen between the proposal and any buildings to the north.  
  
4.23     The eastern elevation of the proposal would be situated in close proximity to the 
western elevation of what we understand to be the Prison Officers Club. There are no 
windows located within this elevation of the building, therefore it is considered that the 
development would not result in detrimental harm to the amenity of users of this 
building.  
  
+Accessible design 
  
4.24     Policy 7.2 of the London Plan (2016, as amended) specifies that all new 
development within London should achieve the highest standards of accessible and 
inclusive design. 
  
4.25     Key Principle DA1 of the Planning Guidance SPD (2018) outlines that drawings 
submitted for planning approval should show external access features, as well as how 
internal facilities will cater inclusively for all categories of users. Key Principle DA6 
outlines that where an entrance to a building would be above or below street level, any 
access ramp should not exceed a gradient of 1:20. 
  
4.26     Key Principle DA7 provides the following guidance with regard to access to 
facilities inside a building: 
  
-Lifts to main general public use areas should have an 1100mm wide door and lift cars 
that are 2000mm x 1400mm inside in accordance with BS 8300:2009. Otherwise, lifts in 
or at the entrances to public use areas should meet Building Regulation Part M 
Approved Documents requirements.  
  
-Accessible unisex toilets in main general public use areas should be 2m x 2.2m in size, 
and meet the recommendations for internal fittings and layout set out in Fig 51b of BS 
8300: 2009 
  
4.27     A key feature of the current proposal is the provision of an entrance for 
members of the public within the southern elevation of the building; which would be 
accessible via Du Cane Road. Notably, an access ramp (no more than 1:20 gradient) 
with handrails would be included, to facilitate inclusive access to the building. The main 
entrance opening to the southern elevation would be of an acceptable width and 
includes a level landing. Internally, a lift (of appropriate size) would serve both floors. A 
disabled toilet would be provided at both ground and first-floor levels. Officers consider 
that these facilities would be consistent with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan (2016, as 
amended) and Key Principles DA1, DA6 and DA7 of the Planning Guidance SPD 
(2018).  
 
+Impact upon highways and parking 
  
4.28     Policy T1 of the Local Plan (2018) outlines that traffic generated by development 
should be minimised so that it does not add to parking pressures or congestion. 
  
4.29     Policy T3 of the Local Plan (2018) seeks to encourage and support the 
increased usage of bicycles, and notes that convenient, accessible and secure cycle 

Page 79



 

parking should be provided in accordance with Policy 6.9, Table 6.3 of the London Plan 
(2016, as amended) and Appendix 8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
  
4.30      Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018) seeks to ensure car parking permit free 
measures on all new development, unless evidence is provided to show that there is a 
significant lack of public transport available. In such instances, any proposed 
development should conform with the car parking standards outlined within Appendix 7 
of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
4.31 Policy T7 of the Local Plan (2018) outlines that all construction, demolition, utilities 
and major logistic activities should mitigate against disruption to the smooth operation of 
the Borough's highway network. 
 
4.32     The application site has a PTAL 5 rating, which ensures a good level of public 
transport accessibility. Paragraph 7.08 of the accompanying design and access 
statement (June 2019) specifies that staff and visitors to Koestler Arts currently make 
use of existing parking provision within the Wormwood Scrubs prison complex. Written 
confirmation has been received which states that the number of employees who would 
occupy the proposed building would likely remain unaltered (15 employees), and 
therefore no additional off-street parking provision is proposed (with the exception of 
one space for blue badge holders). Officers therefore consider that the proposal would 
not exacerbate any existing levels of parking stress or congestion within the vicinity of 
the application site.  
  
4.33     Under Appendix 7 of the Local Plan (2018), one bicycle storage space is 
required per 250 square metres (sqm) for a B1 (including offices) Use Class and one 
bicycle storage space is required per 8 staff for a D2 (including art gallery) Use Class. 
The proposed site plan depicts the inclusion of seven Sheffield stands for bicycle 
storage to the north and south of the site, which would be consistent with Appendix 7 in 
light of the proposal's 580sqm footprint and the number of existing staff who would 
occupy the proposed building. Officers accordingly consider that the proposal would be 
consistent with Policy T3 of the Local Plan (2018).  
  
4.34 Paragraph 1.07 of the submitted design and access statement specify that 
currently, refuse and recycling is collected by licensed contractors, with this 
arrangement to continue at the new building. The submitted proposed site plan 
highlighted that two waste bins would be provided to the north of the site, to store refuse 
and recycling before collection. Officers consider that such an arrangement would be 
acceptable.  
 
4.35 No major construction work would be involved, given that the temporary building 
would be constructed from prefabricated parts. Furthermore, there is a dedicated 
service road to the north of the site, which could be used for unloading and loading 
during construction works. Nevertheless, Officers consider that a condition for the 
submission of a construction logistics plan should be attached to any planning consent; 
so that the Council can confirm that there would be no disruption to existing off-street 
parking spaces and servicing.  
  
4.36     For the reasons outlined above, the proposal is considered to mitigate against 
detrimental harm to highway usage and parking within the surrounding area, consistent 
with Policies T1, T3, T4 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018).  
  

Page 80



 

+ Impact upon flood risk  
  
4.37     Paragraph 155 of the NPPF (2019) specifies that inappropriate development 
should in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away 
from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future).  
  
4.38     Policy CC3 of the Local Plan (2018) outlines that the Council will require a site-
specific flood risk assessment [FRA] for the following development proposals: 
  
-All proposals for development within the Environment Agency's Flood Risk Zones 2 
and 3 
  
-All proposals for new developments over 1 hectare in size within the Environment 
Agency's Flood Risk Zone 1 
  
-All proposals for new development in areas identified in the Council's Surface Water 
Management Plan (SWMP) as being susceptible to surface water flooding - i.e. Those 
located within a flooding hotspot 
  
-All proposals for new development which includes a subterranean element in those 
areas identified in the Council's SWMP as being at risk from elevated groundwater 
levels 
  
4.39     Officers note that the application site lies within the Environment Agency's Flood 
Risk Zone 1, and the proposed building (580m²) would not exceed 1 hectare in size. 
Furthermore, the application site is not located in proximity to a flooding hotspot as 
identified within the Council's SWMP (2015). Accordingly, Officers note that a FRA 
would not be required in this instance, and would not exacerbate the application site's 
existing flood risk, in accordance with Policy CC3 of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
4.40 Annotations within the proposed site plan (drawing No. USM KTP 004 REV B) 
indicates that foul water drainage from toilets and kitchens would run below the building 
to existing connections.  
 
4.41  Policy CC4 of the Local Plan (2018) specifies that all proposals for new 
development must manage surface drainage water run-off. Officers acknowledge that 
the proposal would result in the loss of some existing soft-landscaping within the subject 
plot of land, and so alternative sustainable drainage system (SuDS) provisions would be 
required.  
 
4.42     Whilst the submitted drawings do not specifically detail how surface water would 
be managed as part of this proposal, Officers consider that there would be scope to 
provide SuDS as part of the proposal. Accordingly, Officers recommend that a condition 
be attached to the decision notice requiring further details of how surface drainage 
water would be managed to be approved prior to the commencement of works.  
 
5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  
  
5.1 Officers consider that the proposed development would result in a quality 
temporary building which would respect and enhance the existing frontage it would sit 
within. The development would not result in any long term harm to the character or 
appearance of the area and would also preserve the setting of the surrounding 

Page 81



 

designated heritage assets. Furthermore, Officers consider that the proposed 
development would not result in harm to the amenity of surrounding occupants, in 
excessive traffic generation, nor would the proposal result in an increase in flood risk 
concerns. The use of the pre-fabricated structure would also contribute towards 
sustainable design.  
  
5.2 Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission be granted for this 
temporary structure, subject to conditions.  
 
 

Page 82



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Town 
 

Site Address: 
Beaconsfield Walk Junction Parsons Green Lane   London  SW6 
4DA     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/00431/FR3 
 
Date Valid: 
14.02.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
03.12.2019 

Case Officer: 
Grace Purnell 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Parson's Green Conservation 
Area - Number 10 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Applicant: 
Miss Lynda Dunn 
25 Bagleys Lane  Fulham  SW6 2QA  
 
Description: 
Use of part of the public highway for two temporary traders' market stalls; one for 
commodity flowers Monday to Sunday from 7am to 8pm; one for Trading Coffee 
Monday to Friday from 7am to 5pm. 
Drg Nos: 65010/26/2 rev A; 65010/16/1 rev A 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Regulation 3 - LBHF is Developer 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission  pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town 
and Country Planning General Regulations 1992subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 1) The placement of any stall on the application site, or the carrying on of any trading 

on any part of the application site, shall not continue beyond 24 months from the 
date of this decision notice. 

  
 So that the operation of the stall most particularly with regards to Highways 

impacts and noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties, may be monitored 
by the Council over the course of the permission to ensure that no adverse 
impacts are occurring, in accordance with Policies T1, T6, CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
 2) The use of the flower stall shall not be permitted outside the hours of 07:00-20:00, 

Monday to Sunday. The use of the coffee stall shall not be permitted outside the 
hours of 07:00- 17:00, Monday to Sunday.  

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise from activities or people at the site, in 
accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policies CC11 and CC13. 

 
 3) Prior to commencement of the development, a Servicing Management Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include times 
and frequency of loading and unloading, vehicle movements, and quiet 
loading/unloading measures. The details within the agreed Servicing Management 
Plan shall be implemented prior to the stalls being used and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

  

Page 84



 

 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Local Plan (2018) 
Policies CC11 and CC13. 

  
 4) Prior to the commencement of the development, a refuse strategy shall be 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This should 
provide details on how the stall operator will manage waste production. 

  
 To ensure that waste associated with the proposal will be appropriately managed, 

in accordance with Policy CC7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) 1. Land use: The proposals would achieve a sustainable development by 

contributing to the vibrancy of the surrounding locality, and would not conflict in 
any way with the Council's aims for this area. Resultantly, the proposals would be 
considered consistent with Policy DC1 of the Local Plan (2018).  

  
 2. Highways matters: It is considered that the scheme would not have a significant 

further impact on the highway network or local parking conditions and is thus 
considered to be acceptable. Satisfactory provision would be made for the loading/ 
unloading and deliveries and an acceptable width of footway would remain 
unobstructed for pedestrians. The development thereby accords with Local Plan 
(2018) Policies T1 and T6 of the Local Plan (2018) as well as London Plan (2016) 
Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13. 

  
 3. Residential Amenity: The impact of the proposed development upon 

neighbouring residential occupiers is considered acceptable. The proposals would 
not have an unacceptably harmful impact on neighbouring residential amenity in 
terms of noise disturbance or other nuisance, such as hot food smells. In this 
regard, the development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness, and 
would therefore be acceptable in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

  
 4. Appearance: The development is considered to comply with Local Plan (2018) 

Policies DC1 and DC8 which require a high standard of design in all new build 
developments and extensions and alterations to existing buildings, compatible with 
the scale and character of existing development and its setting. The stalls are not 
a permanent fixture, of a neat and tidy appearance and do not feature any large, 
obtrusive or garish signage or advertisement. The character and appearance of 
the conservation area would be preserved. 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 11th February 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 

Page 85



 

 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
3 Harbledown Road London SW6 5TW   26.06.19 
29 Purser's Cross Road London SW6 4QY  19.10.19 
29 Purser's Cross Road London SW6 4QY  23.06.19 
13 Pursers Cross Road London SW6 4 QY   11.03.19 
12 Elmstone Road London SW65TN   24.06.19 
30a Parsons Green Lane London Sw64hs   24.06.19 
61 Parsons Green Lane London Sw6 4ja   08.03.19 
14 Elmstone Rd London SW6 5TN   24.06.19 
NAG     11.03.19 
8 Novello Street London SW64jb   24.06.19 
25 Pursers Cross Road London SW6 4QY   16.10.19 
25 Pursers Cross Road London SW6 4QY   14.03.19 
34a Parsons Green Lane London SW6 4HS   08.03.19 
27, Pursers Cross Road Fulham, London SW6 4QY   15.03.19 
4 SHOTTENDANE ROAD FULHAM London SW6 5TJ  22.06.19 
9 Purser?s Cross Road London SW64QY   11.03.19 
32 Marquis House, 45 Beadon Road London W6 0BT   09.03.19 
3 PURSERS CROSS ROAD LONDON SW6 4QY   23.10.19 
3 PURSERS CROSS ROAD LONDON SW6 4QY   10.03.19 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
  
1.1 The application sites are located on the northern and southern sides of 
Beaconsfield Walk, an area of public footway connecting Parsons Green Lane and St 
Maur Road. The site is in close proximity to the second entrance serving Parson's 
Green Tube Station and the junction with Parson's Green Lane.    
 
1.2 The application site is located within the Parsons Green Conservation Area, is 
designated as within the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2 and is located 
approximately 45 metres to the north of the Parson's Green Lane Neighbourhood retail 
parade.  
 
1.3 The application seeks permission for the use of part of the public highway for two 
temporary traders' market stalls; comprising one commodity flowers stall with opening 
hours of Monday to Sunday from 7am to 8pm and one coffee stall with opening hours of 
Monday to Friday from 7am to 5pm.   
  

Page 86



 

2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
  
Neighbouring responses 
 
2.1 The application was initially advertised by way of site and press notices under the 
following description of development: 
 
Use of part of the public highway for two permanent traders' market stalls; one for 
commodity flowers Monday to Sunday from 7am to 8pm; one for Trading Coffee 
Monday to Friday from 7am to 5pm. 
 
Individual letters were also sent to 32 neighbouring properties. 
 
2.2 Ten letters of objection have been received along with six letters of support with the 
objection letters raising the following concerns: 
 
- Proposal would be visually unacceptable/impact on conservation area 
- Harm the viability of local businesses  
- Would change the nature of the area from residential to commercial 
- Busy route would be made even busier by the stalls/would cause obstruction  
- The units are not necessary with a number of shops close by 
- Increased noise disturbance  
- Will increase anti-social behaviour/security concerns 
- Increase litter 
 
Support comments are as follows; 
 
- Would bring vitality to the area 
- Stands would be aesthetically pleasing  
- Existing tradespeople are hardworking  
- Would help small/local businesses  
  
2.3 Following a discussion with the applicant and the LPA, the application was agreed 
to be amended to a temporary use, and the location of the stalls altered. Following re-
consultation, three letters of objection have been received raising the following 
concerns: 
 
-  Proposal would be visually unacceptable/impact on conservation area 
- Harm the viability of local businesses  
- Would change the nature of the area from residential to commercial 
- Busy route would be made even busier by the stalls/would cause obstruction  
- The units are not necessary with a number of shops close by 
  
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
3.1 The relevant considerations in this case, to be assessed against the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF] (2018), The London Plan (as amended 
March 2016) and the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018) and the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document [SPD] (2018) are: 
  
- The principle of the development. 
- Highways matters, most particularly servicing and deliveries. 

Page 87



 

- Noise and disturbance to neighbouring residential properties. 
- Visual amenity and street clutter. 
  
4.0 PRINCIPLE  
  
4.1 There are no policies within the Local Plan (2018) that specifically mention new 
proposals for street food or market stalls, and accordingly, Officers recommend that no 
objections be raised to the principle of the development. The key issues to be assessed 
are the highways impact of the scheme, noise and disturbance for neighbours, and the 
impact of the scheme on visual amenity and the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 
  
5.0 HIGHWAYS 
  
5.1 The main Highways issues in respect of the development are (a) ensuring 
satisfactory arrangements for safe and convenient loading/unloading and deliveries for 
the market stalls and (b) ensuring that there is still space on the pavement for the safe 
and convenient passage of pedestrians, including those with mobility impairments.  
 
5.2 Policy T1 of the Local Plan (2018) states that the Council will seek to ensure that 
traffic generated by new development is minimised so that it does not add to parking 
pressures on local streets. 
 
5.3 Parson's Green Lane is a Local access Road. Policy T6 of the Local Plan (2018) 
states that development would not be permitted if it would prejudice the effectiveness of 
these roads to provide safe and convenient access to individual properties or result in 
their use by through-traffic. 
 
5.4 Highways Officers have clarified that the area of the carriageway nearest the 
location of the proposed market stalls is a no stopping area. Given this situation a 
condition will be attached to ensure that a delivery and service management plan, 
clearly detailing all the information regarding where and how the market stalls will be 
serviced without illegally parking along the carriageway or on designated driveway of 
other establishments.  
 
5.5 Subject to this condition it is considered that the proposals would have a satisfactory 
impact on Parson's Green Lane and would not prejudice the effectiveness of Parson's 
Green Lane in providing safe and convenient access to individual properties or result in 
increased use of Parson's Green Lane by through-traffic.  
 
5.6 The proposed market stalls are located in an area of the highway with a high level of 
footfall in proximity to the northern entrance of Parson's Green Station. Key Principle 
TR29 states: 'A minimum width of 1.8m clear and unobstructed footway will usually be 
required outside Town Centres... where there is a high level of footfall, even over short 
bursts, a greater width of clear and unobstructed footway than specified may be 
required'. In this instance, the submitted amended site layout plan indicates that an 
unobstructed footway width of 2.5-2.8 metres would be provided around the market 
stalls. Therefore, even with existing obstructions including Bicycle racks and lamp 
columns taken into consideration, there would still be enough space remaining to 
ensure the free flow of pedestrians.  
  
 

Page 88



 

6.0 NOISE AND NUISANCE 
  
6.1 Policy CC11 of the Local Plan (2018) states that noise-generating development will 
not be permitted if it would be liable to materially increase the noise experienced by the 
occupants of existing noise-sensitive uses in the vicinity. Policy CC13 (Control of 
Potentially Polluting Uses) states that the Council will, where appropriate, require 
mitigation measures if a nuisance (such as smoke, smell, or noise) would be likely to 
occur. With specific reference to outdoor uses, Key Principle NN5 states that outdoor 
uses need to be assessed with regard to frequency and times of use, and the noise 
level likely to be emitted from activities. 
  
6.2 The nearest residential properties are located on the southern side of Purser's 
Cross Road and at the upper floor of No 46 Parson's Green Lane. Measurements 
demonstrate that there would be an approximate distance of 9-15 metres between the 
proposed market stall location and these residential properties.  
 
6.3 Officer's acknowledge that noise from the development could be generated from 
vehicles arriving, servicing and voices etc. The application proposes a start time of 7am 
for trading, with set up commencing prior to that time. Whilst the start time could be 
early, it is not considered that the proposed market stall would generate additional noise 
beyond what has been established by the existing commercial activities in the area 
including the existing temporary market stall coffee and flower pitches and commercial 
activity associated with the nearby Parsons Green Lane neighbourhood Parade. 
Ambient noise is also generated by vehicular noise along Parsons Green Lane and a 
high pedestrian footfall in Beaconsfield Walk associated with the proximity of the site to 
Parson's Green Station. For these reasons, it is considered that no objections would be 
raised to the 7am start time proposed.  
 
6.4 Officers note that the proposed market stalls would sell coffee and flowers. 
Resultantly, hot food odours would not be associated with the proposal.  
 
6.5 It is recommended that the proposal for two markets stalls comprising 1 x coffee 
stall and 1 x flower stall is granted a temporary permission for 24 months, to allow both 
Highways and Noise and Nuisance Officers to monitor the impact of the developments 
and record any complaints received during that time. If the stalls were found to be 
operating without any detrimental issues, the applicant could then re-apply for a longer-
term permission. 
  
7.0 APPEARANCE/VISUAL CLUTTER 
 
7.1 The proposed market stalls are considered to be modest in terms of their footprint, 
bulk and mass. After amendment to the original proposals, the market stalls now consist 
of a gazebo type structures. In order for the market stalls to comply with street trading 
licencing regulations it would be designed to integrate with the surrounding urban 
environment without detracting from its character and appearance. In this regard, no 
objections are raised on the grounds of visual amenity. It is considered that the 
character and appearance of the Parsons Green Conservation Area would be 
preserved. 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 

8.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
8.1 Officers consider that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
highways implications and noise and disturbance for neighbours, as well as appearance 
and the impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area.  
 
8.2 It is recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to conditions. 
 
 
 

Page 90


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	PDCC MINUTES - 15.10.2019

	4 Flat 4 29 - 47 Fitz-George Avenue, London W14 0SZ, Avonmore and Brook Green, 2019/02510/FUL
	5 Flat 5 9 - 27 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SY, Avonmore and Brook Green, 2019/02511/FUL
	6 Flat 6 49 - 67 Fitz-George Avenue London W14 0SZ, Avonmore and Brook Green, 2019/02512/FUL
	7 168A Du Cane Road London W12 0TX, College Park And Old Oak, 2019/02035/FUL
	8 Beaconsfield Walk Junction Parsons Green Lane London SW6 4DA, Town, 2019/00431/FR3

